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Our Vision
To facilitate growth and prosperity for people across East Africa.

Our Mission 
To be the leading business bank across East Africa, delivering excellent customer service through highly motivated teams 
and a rewarding work environment.

Our Values 
A - Acting together in teamwork

We shall work together in a cooperative and supportive manner to achieve our shared goals.

F - Fostering trust and professionalism

We shall transact business in a knowledgeable, diligent and skilful manner while continuing to foster trustworthy relationships by being proactive, 
professional and accountable at all times.

R - Responsible to the wider community

We shall partner with the communities in which we work in as our way of giving back to them.

I - Integrity and Honesty

We shall seek honesty and display integrity in all we do.

C - Customer Orientation

We shall continue to offer superior products by consistently getting things right and using our resources optimally to meet our customers’ needs.

A - Agents for Change and Innovation

We shall be agents for change and innovation in economic development by empowering our customers and staff.
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Group Chairman’s Report

.............................................................

It gives me pleasure to present the 
Annual Report and the Financial 
Statements of the Fina Bank Group 
for the year ended 31st December 2011.

.............................................................

Economic Background
Kenya
The year 2011 was characterized by external shocks.  Rising crude oil prices, debt worries in Europe, and the Arab 
spring uprising had a direct impact on the economies of East Africa.  In Kenya, these manifested themselves in a rapid 
rise in inflation rates and a deterioration in the country’s current account balance due to increasing imports at a time 
of slowdown in exports.  Higher import costs of fuel and other essentials stoked inflation through the year, which rose 
from 4.5% in December 2010 to 19.7% in December 2011.  Meanwhile, improvements in capital account were eroded 
by the widening current account balance, resulting in a deterioration in the country’s balance of payments.

These two major factors combined to slow Kenya’s economic growth down from 4.9% in the first quarter of 2011 to 
an estimated 4.5% for the year as a whole, well below the initial estimates of 5.0% - 5.5%. The worsening balance of 
payments position led to a decline in the value of the Kenya Shilling in the volatile currency market of late 2011.  Central 
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Bank of Kenya in an effort to control inflation announced 
a tight monetary policy from the second quarter of 2011 
which saw a cumulative increase of 12.25 percentage 
points in official rates from 5.75% p.a. in January 2011 
to 18.0% p.a. in December 2011. The regulator also 
introduced measures to protect the Kenya Shilling in the 
currency markets by lowering the regulatory limit on banks’ 
open currency positions and restricting currency swaps with 
off-shore institutions. These changes produced immediate 
results, as the local currency, after falling to a historic low 
of 107 against the US Dollar, recovered to 84 at the end of 
the year.

The steep rise in the Central Bank Rate (CBR) led to higher 
commercial banks’ Base Rates for loans and advances up 
to 23%-25% p.a. by November 2011.  These high lending 
rates have put heavily-borrowed enterprises and individuals 
under significant pressure.  It is worth noting that, in a 
collective agreement with Kenya Bankers Association, 
member banks agreed to absorb the increased costs of 
funds after the Central Bank raised the CBR to 18% p.a. 
in December, by foregoing further adjustments in their 
Base Lending Rates and instead extending the maturity of 
their loans so as not to affect Monthly Instalments of their 
borrowing customers.

The year ahead is likely to be challenging for businesses, 
as external developments will continue to weigh on the 
domestic economy even as the domestic policy actions of 
last year continue to produce positive results.

Uganda
While lower food prices contributed to a drop in inflation 
to 27% in December 2011, the Ugandan Shilling remained 
weak and interest rates hovered around 30% p.a. (with 
the Central Bank Rate at 23% p.a. at the end of the year 
– though now reduced to 21%).  Manufacturing output 

and the demand for new loans declined as 2011 drew to 
a close, as did economic activity in general.  All the same, 
Uganda’s GDP is estimated by IMF to grow by 5.5% in 2012, 
roughly in line with other EAC countries.

In response to Bank of Uganda’s cut in the Central Bank 
Rate to 21% p.a., commercial banks’ lending rates are 
expected to decline to 25-26% p.a. – but such rates, 
together with the drop in domestic demand, might continue 
to be a disincentive for new investment.

Rwanda
The country’s economy is poised for high growth, according 
to a recent IMF report, but inflationary pressures are not 
ruled out.

GDP growth rose in 2011 as a result of commendable 
performances by the agricultural and export sectors 
(although aggregate demand has also grown, pushing up 
core inflation), and revised estimates place it at 8.8%.

The authorities have begun tightening monetary policy to 
contain inflation, while fiscal consolidation remains on track 
and is expected to further anchor macroeconomic stability.

Rwanda has become a country of many opportunities.  
The banking system in particular continues to be liquid 
and profitable, with a decline in non-performing loans and 
improvements in supervision well under way.  Economic 
resurgence has taken place across practically all sectors, 
and it is therefore not surprising that Rwanda has emerged 
as an inspiring model for all of Africa.

Financial Performance
The Fina Bank Group recorded pre-tax profit for 2011 of 
Kes.474.64 million, a satisfying increase of 110% over the 
corresponding figure for 2010 – particularly in the context 
of the uncertainties in the region last year.

The Group’s loan book grew by a relatively modest 17%, 
which was a reflection of the caution with which new credit 
facilities were disbursed during this difficult period.  Risk 
mitigation was also ensured through a diverse business 
model that took into account the different features of each 
market; for example, while Fina Bank Kenya focused on 
the mid-corporate segment with its low risks and need for 
a wide range of income-generating products and services, 
Fina Bank Rwanda’s emphasis was on retail and SME 
banking, and Fina Bank Uganda concentrated on smaller 
corporates and larger SMEs. 

Capital support for the Group’s growth in 2012 and beyond 
is now under our active consideration.

The Board and Corporate Governance
The Board recognizes that good corporate governance is 
one of the main pillars of success for any well performing 
company, and of particular importance in the banking 
sector where we are guardians of depositors’ funds.

The Group’s strategy has been to ensure strict adherence to 
regulatory guidelines on business and operational matters.  
Our aim has consistently been the achievement of global 
best practices in corporate governance.  And beyond the 
rules, policies, and procedures, the Group recognizes the 
importance of fostering a culture of belief and commitment 
to the highest standards of business ethics.

Social Responsibility
Corporate Social Responsibility is an integral part of the way 
in which the Group relates to its various stakeholders and 
to the communities in which it operates.  For Fina Bank, 
CSR is about conducting itself in a manner that is ethical, 
fair, and transparent.  This includes being mindful of the 
environment, helping the less privileged in society, and 

Group Chairman’s Report (continued)
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Group Chairman’s Report (continued)

are committed to the highest standards of service delivery, 
underpinned by teamwork, professionalism, customer 
orientation, and the most demanding levels of integrity.

Appreciation
In conclusion, and on behalf of the Board, I thank all our 
supportive and loyal customers who have stood by us 
through good times and bad, and without whose help and 
encouragement we would not have been where we are now.  
We look forward to many more years of mutually beneficial 
relationship with them.

I also wish to express my appreciation for the guidance and 
support extended to the Group by our regulators - Central 
Bank of Kenya, Bank of Uganda, and Banque Nationale de 
Rwanda.  

The management and staff of the Group entities also richly 
deserve our appreciation for their unflagging dedication 
and untiring effort for the growth of Fina Bank.

In addition, I thank our other business partners, including 
our correspondent banks, service providers, and external 
auditors, for their support to our Group.

promoting the well-being of employees. To that end, we 
have supported a number of organisations and initiatives 
during the year, including The Nairobi and Thika Hospices, 
The Karura Forest Department, Kamili Organisation, 
Tirumala Tirupati Temple, Caritas Nurses Medical Camp, 
and the Government of Rwanda’s ‘Girinka’ Scheme.

Talent Remains Key
During the second half of 2011, we welcomed to the 
Board of Directors and Senior Management of Fina Bank 
Kenya Mr. Bhaskar Ghose, our Chief Executive Officer and 
Managing Director (earlier, the MD and CEO of IndusInd 
Bank in India, and Country Head for India of The Bank of 
New York, among other senior assignments in organizations 
such as Bank of America), together with Mr. Rajesh Kapoor, 
Executive Director – Business Support (formerly a General 
Manager in State Bank of India).  The two senior managers 
have further strengthened our Board and have provided 
the management team with the experience and immense 
knowledge that they bring on board.

A vital component of the achievement and aspirations of 
the Group for growth and success is the performance of its 
employees.  In this regard, Fina Bank maintains its focus on 
staff development, both professionally and personally, as it 
prepares to move into its next phase of growth.

To attract and retain talent, the Group strives to 
maintain and improve on a healthy, vibrant and learning 
work environment. Our Bank’s human capital strategy 
encourages a performance culture, with staff development 
and compensation as its cornerstones.  Our staff members 

And finally, I am deeply indebted to the Group’s  
shareholders, for continuing to believe in Fina Bank’s 
vision for growth and development, and to my colleagues 
on the Board for the invaluable guidance, time, support 
and expertise that they have consistently provided to the 
Group.

I conclude on this note, and look forward to a successful 
and rewarding 2012.

Dhanu Chandaria
Group Chairman
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I present to you with pleasure the financial performance last year of Fina Bank Kenya - the first time I have had this 
privilege since I took charge of this reputed institution.

The year 2011 represented a mix of prospects and opportunities on the one hand, and challenges and difficulties on the 
other.  Surging inflation, a depreciating shilling, and the resultant steep rise in interest rates led by Central Bank Rate 
increases defined the closing months of 2011 for the Kenyan economy.

These changes had a significant impact on Kenyan business, locally and externally, with many organisations including 
ours being tested.  I am proud to say that Fina Bank Kenya rose to the occasion, reaffirming its resilience in volatile 
business and economic conditions.

Operating Profit (pretax profit) for 2011 more than doubled its previous year’s figure to reach Kes.310.5 million.  This 
increase was satisfactorily spread over net interest income from loans, foreign exchange revenue, fees and commission 
income, and lower loan loss provisions – which amply demonstrated the Bank’s improved all-round performance.  The 
fact that operating expenses (after excluding loan loss provisions) grew by a controlled 15% over 2010 levels was 
testimony to the Bank’s success in restricting costs even in difficult times. 

.............................................................

The Bank defined 2011 with a shift 
in business strategy.  From being a 
player in the SME banking segment, 
Fina Bank in Kenya raised its sights 
to target mid-corporates and turn 
itself into the “Preferred Business 
Bank”. 

.............................................................

MD’s Report Kenya
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Having reviewed the performance of the past year, we must 
now face the expectations and challenges of 2012 with 
renewed determination.  Our main goals are enhanced 
customer service delivery, simplified processes and 
procedures, firm compliance with regulations, continuous 
brand enhancement and visibility, employee involvement 
and motivation, improved products that relate to the 
market, robust risk management practices, and finally 
increased profits.  With these in place, we have no doubt 
that we will build an enduring institution that will be a 
source of pride to all its stakeholders.

It is with the achievement of these goals in mind that 
the Bank has started the process of changing its Core 
Banking Software from the existing system to a new, 
state-of-the-art offering, comparable with the best in 
the world.  This exercise spans all three countries of the 
Group’s operations – Kenya, Uganda, and Rwanda – and 
is aimed at significantly improving operating systems, risk 
management procedures, product and service offerings, 
and compliance with regulatory requirements.

In line with our values, Corporate Social Responsibility has 
always been our way of giving back to the society and to the 
communities in which we operate.  In 2011, the engagement 
of our employees in CSR activities was encouraged across 
a range of initiatives, including a ‘Fina Bank for Kenya’ 
campaign in support of the drought-affected.

Our business focus in 2012 and beyond will remain mid-
corporate, supported by business banking and treasury 
offerings, with e-banking as an enabler. This is in line 
with our vision, our capabilities, our strengths, and the 
opportunities that lie before us.

Our commitment to – indeed, passion for – improving 
credit quality manifested itself in two clear ways.  One, our 
portfolio of non-performing loans shrank sharply by 44% 
in comparison to its 2010 level; and two, our gross loan 
book grew by a controlled 8.5%, led by incremental credit 
only to high-quality borrowers rather than a rampage into 
opportunities for high-yield but high-risk lending during a 
period of uncertainties. 

In an environment of spiralling deposit costs, we kept 
deposits growth deliberately low at 7% over 2010 levels, in 
view not only of our comfortable liquidity situation but also 
of our objective of keeping interest expenses down.

The Bank defined 2011 with a shift in business strategy.  
From being a player in the SME banking segment, Fina 
Bank in Kenya raised its sights to target mid-corporates 
and turn itself into the “Preferred Business Bank”.  The goal 
was to boost credit quality by moving into a more resilient 
market segment, and also to increase sales of non-funded 
products and services.  This I also believe will allow for 
significant business expansion opportunities in the market 
even in a harsher economic environment.

It is almost axiomatic that to be a strong market player, one 
has to strive to uncover new markets and offer a full range 
of services while providing innovation, quality, a personal 
touch, and flexibility in delivery.  This philosophy was the 
catalyst for our shift in business strategy.  

In late 2011, the Bank launched a Current Accounts and 
Savings Account (CASA) drive to diversify its deposits 
customer base and accumulate relatively low-cost funds.  
To its corporate clients, it ensured that the most competitive 
foreign exchange rates in the market were offered.

I take this opportunity to thank all our stakeholders, 
particularly my Colleagues in the Bank, for their focus, 
energy, and determination to succeed. Indeed, without 
them, our vastly improved performance in 2011 would not 
have been possible.

I also wish to express my gratitude to our Customers for their 
loyalty and continued patronage, to our Shareholders for 
their patience and continued commitment to our strategy, 
to the Directors on our board whose unstinted support and 
help I have rarely seen replicated in any other board on 
which I have served in other markets, to our regulators 
Central Bank of Kenya whose guidance and encouragement 
have been invaluable, to our correspondent banks and 
other business partners, and to the communities that we 
have the pleasure of serving.

We remain indebted to you all, and as we move into the 
future, we look forward to your continued support towards 
jointly building the enduring institution of our Corporate 
Vision – the preferred regional business bank, Fina Bank 
Kenya.

Bhaskar Ghose
Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer

MD’s Report Kenya
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CEO’s Report Uganda 

..............................................................................................................................................................................

Fina Bank Uganda has partnered with a variety of organizations that work to bring financial services 
within the reach of our customers. 

..............................................................................................................................................................................

I take this opportunity to present to you Fina Bank Uganda and thank you for your 
commitment to this partnership for the 3rd successive year.

The year 2011 was marked with opportunities and challenges stemming from the 
harsh economic environment, due to internal and external factors such as business 
protests that caused a significant slowdown in business volumes throughout 
the  industry. However, Fina Bank Uganda continued to grow and foster business 
relationships.

2011 the Bank relocated to the new Head Office on Plot 53, Kiira Road Kampala. 
This not only increased our foot-print in Uganda (now at 7 branches) and visibility 
but availed us the extra opportunity to serve our customers diligently in a more 
customized and friendlier environment. 

Fina Bank Uganda has partnered with a variety of organizations that work to bring 
financial services within the reach of our customers. National water and Sewerage 
corporations, Multchoice Uganda Limited were some of the partnership milestones 
in 2011.  

In order to improve customer service and efficiency, we aim at upgrading our 
technological platform, create new products and investing in our people by 
implementing more training and skill development programs. 
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Our focus was and still is on creating more value for our 
Customers, Staff and our share holders as well as leverage 
on the partnerships we have created over the last three 
years. Its only through developing relevant customer 
business propositions, continued investments in our 
human resource development programs, diversification 
of our product portfolio, enhancing our technological 
capabilities as well as developing partnerships with 
complementary industrial players that can create more 
value for all our stakeholders. We will continue to conduct 
our business with the highest level of integrity, a core value 
we cherish most as well as ensure total compliance to 
industrial relations and practices. 

Looking forward to 2012 and the years to come, we shall 
steer our business on the notion that adds value to our 
stakeholders. This is a key ingredient for our business 
growth and will help us thrive in this competitive industry. 
I would like to commend the energies channeled into this 
business by all our stakeholders and it is my belief that 
with their continued support the sky is the limit.

The best players in any business always expect the 
competition to be fierce and the challenges to be daunting. 
But our people are up to the task, and I thank them for their 
hard work throughout last year and all the effort that I know 
is to come.

Although we had a good year, our task is to ensure that we 
have better years to come — by providing excellent service 
to all our esteemed customers and building value for our 
stakeholders. I know we can do it because of what I already 
have seen our people accomplish.

I also want to thank our Directors for their support, trust 
and for their continuing guidance. 

Fina Bank will achieve its vision of “facilitating growth and 
prosperity for people across East Africa”.

Charles W. Nalyaali
CEO

CEO’s Report Uganda
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While reporting the annual results last year this time, less than expected performance 
of 2010 was sought to be justified given the unfavorable conditions prevailing at that 
time. Not that significant changes have happened in external environment since 
then, but; prudent governance, control and business development issues addressed 
internally, assisted by higher economic growth of the country, brought in a very 
successful year for Fina Bank Rwanda in 2011.  More satisfying is that there has 
been qualitative improvement in the performance, resulting in the Bank obtaining 
better CAMELS rating from the Central Bank.

Although inflation peaked to 8.3% in 2011 against 0.2% of 2010, Rwanda returned 
with lowest inflation and highest real growth (8.8%) for the year in East Africa. 
Exchange rate continues to be reasonably stable and investors’ interest in the 
economy is very positive. 

It is contextual to note that up scaling skills, taking the Bank to the unbanked 
areas of Rwanda and technology up gradation continue to be Bank’s focus areas. 
During the year more than 50% of staff had undergone external training programs. 
These included mainly; leadership, trade finance, payment systems, law related 
issues, financial analysis, IFRS, budgeting and bullet proof management programs. 
Internally all members of staff were trained on risk, customer service, AML and KYC 
related issues. In 2011, we opened guichets/ sub-branches in Rusizi (erstwhile 
Cyangugu), Kigali Market Centre and Petite Barrier (Rubavu). As I write this report 
two more guichets – Kaborondo and Kayonza stand operational raising the branch 
footprint to 15.       

Financial Review 
Profit before Tax for 2011 was Rwf 1,110 million (2010; Rwf 553 million). The 
performance can be rated creditable on the face of the following:

With a view to clean up all the past issues relating to BACAR legacy accounts, the Bank 
has discounted securities by 100% and wrote off the debt through full provisions, 
thereby impacting bottom line by more than Rwf One Billion. In the long run this will 

MD’s Report Rwanda 

..............................................................................................................................................................................

Although inflation peaked to 8.3% in 2011 against 0.2% of 2010, Rwanda returned with lowest inflation and 
highest real growth (8.8%) for the year in East Africa.

..............................................................................................................................................................................
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prove to be a prudent step since future recoveries from 
these accounts will directly accrue to Bank’s income.    

Spreads continue to be under immense pressure. During 
the year net interest income grew by 17%. This may sound 
low on the face of net growth of 27% in net loan book; 
from Rwf 25 billion to Rwf 32 billion. The Bank has been 
very aggressive in deposit mobilization especially, low cost 
Current Accounts and Savings Accounts (CASA). Overall, 
deposits grew by over 23% (from Rwf 39 billion to over 
Rwf 48 billion), with CASA deposits increasing from less 
than Rwf 24 billion in 2010 to more than Rwf 31 billion, 
mustering growth of over 31%, facilitating the Bank to 
manage interest expenses (nominal growth of 8 percent), 
which gave enough flexibility to negotiate interest rates on 
a number of lending relationships. As against more than 
normal inflation during 2011, such a strategy of moderated 
pricing by the Bank sent very positive signals resulting in 
win-win situation for the Bank and customer.  

As a related objective, the Bank has been able to maintain 
comfortable levels of liquidity throughout the year, despite 
more than budgeted growth in loan book, due to healthy 
increase in deposit base. 

Foreign Exchange income recorded robust increase of over 
51% and; net Fee & Commission income grew by 21%, 
reflecting strong treasury and trade finance operations. 
Total operating income of Rwf 6.7 billion was more than 
16% above that of 2010.

Most satisfying aspect of 2011 operations is expense 
management. Despite continuing growth in branch 
network and its attendant costs, operating expenses were 
effectively controlled under CARE (Cost of funds, Asset 
Quality, Recoveries and Expense Management) strategy, 
as mentioned in the last report. Total operating expenses 
at Rwf 4.6 billion for the year, were less by more than 
Rwf 400 million vis-à-vis those of 2010 reflecting positive 
variance of about 9% (in 2010 negative variance of 21% 
was recorded, net of exceptional items). The philosophy 
of ‘compatibility, comparability and necessity’ of cost 

management introduced in 2010 continued in 2011 and 
will be the focus area in the years to come.

Overall, the Balance Sheet grew by less than 10%. 
However with prudent fund management, we recorded 
improved efficiency ratios. Net Interest Margin, Return on 
Assets, Return on Equity and Cost to Income Ratio for the 
year 2011 improved respectively to 8.08%, 1.90%, 10.14% 
and 73.2% as against 6.67%, 1.48%, 6.59% and 93.38% 
of the previous year. The Bank was fully and uniformly 
compliant with all regulatory and statutory requirements 
during the year. Government of Rwanda continues to hold 
about 8% capital.            

Business Banking
During the year, business banking recorded good and 
healthy growth. Despite clean up of legacy book and 
migration of a large corporate customer to competition, 
impacting above Rwf 3 billion, the segment showed quality 
growth and; in the process facilitated substantial reduction 
in NPL ratio from above 21% in the beginning of the year to 
around 8% by year-end. 

Given the improved appraisal skills of relationship team, all 
the branches will have embedded relationship managers 
in the current year, which will improve turnaround time in 
credit decision and facilitate better credit delivery.  

Medium, Small and Micro 
Enterprises Banking 
SME segment growth has been phenomenal in 2011. 
From an outstanding of Rwf 2.6 Billion in the beginning of 
the year, the gross loan book to this sector reached Rwf 
5.6 Billion by the year-end, signifying 115% growth.  On 
qualitative terms, the outcome is satisfying given that NPL 
ratio of the segment declined from over 27% to 10% during 
the year.

To ensure better client service, upscale of skills-set 
was achieved in the year by imparting training to the 

entire relationship team – business and SME – on 
credit assessment, financial analysis and delinquency 
management of small loans.

Retail Banking Initiatives 
A number of initiatives have been operational in retail 
banking space during 2011. 

Business development and service delivery at branches 
have been segmented with separate oversight 
management at senior level. Cluster concept for business 
development at branches has been put in place.

New channels of delivery for banking were introduced vis 
a vis, alternate, remittance and direct sales channels. 
Alternate channel drives agency banking and branchless 
network expansion, on site and off site ATM penetration and; 
mobile and net banking. Remittance channel accelerates 
fee generation initiatives by acquiring new international 
money transfer services and expanding money transfer 
points, on-location and through subagent network. 
Direct sales channel takes banking to the customer and 
facilitates financial inclusion. Whilst Remittance, Direct 
sales and Internet Banking channels are operative, Agency 
banking channel will be rolled out after the ongoing pilot 
project is concluded.       

We recently launched a no frills budget account, branded 
Fina Aguka, targeting low income earners and Fina Sugira, 
targeting women entrepreneurs. A new product addressing 
the needs of farmers is in the offing soon. Fina Link, the 
E-banking module, has also been rolled out recently. 

From a penetration of less than 2,500 cards and ATM 
network of 8 as at the end of 2010, we have mustered 
card circulation of approximately 10,000 and a network 
of 13 ATMs, including the first off-site ATM of the bank in 
an outlet of the leading super market chain of East Africa, 
by end 2011. By the end of 2012, we shall have at least 
20,000 cardholders and 20 ATMs, with emphasis on off-
site expansion.

MD’s Report Rwanda 
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efficient business process and effective business support. 
The entire strategy has been cascaded into vertical wise 
action plans, department wise work programs and staff 
member wise work plans under a comprehensive Balanced 
Score Card environment. The strategy envisages aggressive 
growth in business, productivity and quality. I am hopeful of 
realizing the MTS objectives year–on-year basis. 

Outlook for 2012
As mentioned elsewhere, from 0.2% in 2010, the country 
recorded high inflation of 8.3% in December 2011. However 
growth was also high at 8.8% for 2011 against 7.5% of the 
previous year. As per World Bank reports, the country is 
expected to have high inflation and low growth in 2012. 
Nonetheless the Central Bank, while estimating growth 
of 7.6%, is hopeful of reigning inflation to 7.5% in 2012. 
We share the cautious optimism for 2012 and admit that 
there are exciting opportunities and underlying challenges 
ahead. Our aim is to convert the challenges into realizable 
objectives.    

Acknowledgments
I place on record deep sense of appreciation and 
gratitude to the Government of Rwanda for its continued 
shareholding in the bank and commitment in easing norms 
to do business in the country. 

Proactive, accommodative and supportive guidance of the 
Central Bank (BNR) is greatly acknowledged.   

Members of the local board and regional board actively 
engage in policy and strategic guidance to management. 
Thank you board. 

Our customers are the source of inspiration in our 
continuous efforts to broaden the product range and 
improve service delivery. I acknowledge with thanks our 
customers’ feedback, input and patronage.

In 2011, despite industry-wide challenges, we pioneered in 
successful integration / implementation of Real Time Gross 
Settlement (RTGS) and Automatic Clearing House (ACH) 
modules under Rwanda Integrated Payment Processing 
System (RIPPS), which not only earned appreciation of the 
Central Bank but also got referrals from them to train other 
colleagues in banking sector.

The bank has recently obtained VISA acquiring license and; 
is in advanced stage of firming up MasterCard license and 
third party processor for aggressive card circulation and 
usage in line with the Government of Rwanda’s strategy to 
deepen payment system in the country. 

Technology
Compatible and versatile technology platform is need of 
the hour to roll out customer centric products and services. 
Our board has recently approved significant capital outlay 
to acquire a robust new Core Banking System (CBS) and 
the final migration is expected to happen during this year. 

Risk Management
In 2011, new policies on security, customer accounts, IT 
and cash management were added to the existing array of 
policies covering credit, market, liquidity, compliance and 
operational risks. As per the internal practice, Anti-Money 
Laundering (AML) and Know Your Customer (KYC) policies 
are continually updated and; all members of staff are 
trained on AML and KYC.   

Medium Term Strategy (MTS)
Last year it was reported that the new CARE management 
strategy, for continuous business quality, introduced in 2010 
would be the focus area for 2011. As mentioned earlier in 
this report, the results have been satisfying. Hence it has 
become one of the four pillars for the bank’s medium term 
strategy 2012 – 2015, recently approved by the board. 
The other three pillars are robust business development, 

I also thank all our correspondents, counterparties and 
other stakeholders for their continued association, resulting 
in an ever growing mutually beneficial relationship.   

Our staff  
I take pride in being a member of Fina Bank Rwanda team 
and thank each member of staff for their commitment and 
hard work. I shall fail in my duty if I do not acknowledge 
the contribution of their family members, whose moral and 
emotional support makes each staff member an achiever 
at the workplace.

Instructive to note that during the year staff members 
participated in a number of Umuganda (community 
service) activities. Further there was financial contribution 
from staff to supplement that from the bank to participate 
in Girinka (one cow per family) program of Government of 
Rwanda. 

Our staff actively participated in a number of Corporate 
Social Responsibility (CSR) activities such as distribution of 
family health insurance (Mituelle de Sante) policies, walk 
to remember (genocide) sponsorship, genocide memorial 
visits, food supplies to orphanages and help building a 
school etc. 

Let me sign off by declaring that in 2011 we won Financial 
Reporting (FiRe) country award for Rwanda in private sector. 

Rao G. Balivada
Managing Director

MD’s Report Rwanda 
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Fina Bank Marks Silver Jubilee Celebrates 10 Years of Excellence in Lavington and Westlands Branches

Originally incorporated as a Non Banking Financial 
Institution over quarter of a century ago, then known 
as Finance International Limited, thereafter changed to 
Finance Institution of Africa, Fina was an idea actualised to 
bring forth excellence in the banking industry. 

Acquired by the current Chairman Mr. Dhanu Chandaria and 
a group of shareholders Finance Institution of Africa was 
put on a new growth path changing its name to Fina. 

In 1995, Fina took advantage of the new banking laws in 
Kenya and converted itself into a fully-licensed commercial 
Bank and Fina Bank Limited was thus born on 14th February 
1996. 

The company has now shifted its strategy from being the 
preferred SME Bank to be the leading mid-corporate Bank 
with a strong regional emphasis. 

Fina Bank has expanded in Kenya, Uganda and Rwanda 
ensuring that customer needs are met. 

In addition Fina Bank Kenya proudly celebrated 10 years 
of excellence in banking and growth of its branches in 
Lavington (ABC) and Westlands (APIC Centre). 

Both branches have built and sustained long term 
relationships with customers in the area and have continued 
to focus on growth.

  

Kenya Report

Highlights

CaptionLavington Branch Manager Bindiya Gohil cuts cake in the presence of 
Group Non-Executive Director Hanish Chandaria, Managing Director & 
CEO Bhaskar Ghose, Head of Service Delivery Michael Obiero and Head of 
Finance Alex Mbatha among other Bank officials to celebrate 10 years.

Westlands Branch Manager Parita Shah in the presence of Group Non-
Executive Director Hanish Chandaria, Managing Director & CEO Bhaskar 
Ghose, customers and Bank officials mark 10 years.



FINA BANK . ANNUAL REPORT . DECEMBER 2 0 1 1 15

Fina Bank Cares About the Environment and the Ocean
Eco Ethics International Kenya is an NGO that has been in 
the forefront of environmental conservation, ensuring that 
domestic and international tourists enjoy their stay in the 
coastal city of Mombasa.

With the theme of ‘our oceans - opportunities and 
challenges’, Eco Ethics partnered with Fina Bank among 
other stakeholders and conducted a thorough beach 
cleanup exercise to create awareness of measures on 
how to dispose waste materials safely without harming the 
environment and the ocean.

Held on June 8th, 2011, the event attracted a record 
number of 1,500 people at Mombasa’s Jomo Kenyatta 
Public beach. 

The event was graced by the Minister for Fisheries Hon. 
Paul Otwoma and Assistant Minister for Fisheries Mr.  
Mohammed Abu Chiaba, among other dignitaries. Fina 
Bank is passionate about the environment and partners 
with Eco Ethics in ensuring that the environment is clean 
and habitable.

Kenya Report

.............................................................

Fina bank is passionate about the 
environment. Through corporate 
social responsibility initiative, it 
partners with Eco Ethics in ensuring 
that the environment is clean and 
habitable.

.............................................................

Highlights (continued)
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Muthaiga Branch Takes Care of the Environment

In her speech at the Goldman Awards in San Francisco on 
24 April 2006, the Late Professor Wangari Maathai said 
“until you dig a hole, plant a tree, water it and make it 
survive, you haven’t done a thing; you are just talking”.

Fina Bank Muthaiga Branch took this advice to heart 
and walked the talk in conserving the environment. Led 
by its Branch Manager Lisa Mwani, the team planted 25 
indigenous trees with the help and guidance of the Forester-
in-charge Mr. John Orwa and his team of rangers.

The exercise started at 7:00am and participants signed 
the guest book at the forest’s office before embarking on 
a half-hour drive into Karura forest to start the muddy yet 
enjoyable exercise of planting 25 trees.

Karura forest covers 1041 hectares of land and has 17 
rangers, besides several corporals and sergeants who 
assist in keeping it safe and secure.

The forest officials thanked the Bank for its initiative and 
insisted that planting trees is the only bequest that one can 
give to the future.

Muthaiga staff members follow instructions of the Forester-in-charge, Mr. John Orwa during the tree planting exercise at the Karura forest.

Kenya Report

.............................................................

“until you dig a hole, plant a tree, 
water it and make it survive, you 
haven’t done a thing; you are just 
talking.” The late Nobel Laureate 
Professor Wangari Maathai

.............................................................

Highlights (continued)
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Thika Branch team members and the CSR team donating to Thika Hospice. Kimathi Branch and the CSR team hand over a dummy cheque worth 
Kes.50,000 Nairobi Hospice.

Fina Bank Donates to Thika and Nairobi Hospices

With the objective of being responsible to the wider 
community, Fina Bank presented a cheque worth 
Kes.50,000 among other gifts including plastic chairs, 
tables and accessories to Thika Hospice on two separate 
visits.

During both presentations held in Thika town at the Thika 
District Hospital, Fina Bank Head of Marketing Bernadette 
Ngara recognized and thanked the doctors who devote 
their time, energy and expertise to the welfare of the sick.

The founder Eunice Njeri thanked Fina Bank for its 
continued support. “We are grateful for the generous 
contribution and support you have given us over the years, 
you have empowered us to give free medication to patients 
because earlier we had to send them to Nairobi Hospice for 
treatment,” she said.

During the first visit, Stanley Kariuki, a patient, thanked 
Fina Bank for donating medication that he receives for 
free.“I had almost lost hope. I had spent all my savings on 
medication, travelling and diet expenses. Now I am grateful 
to Fina Bank and Thika Hospice for the drugs and care they 
give me free of charge.”

Thika Hospice offers free palliative care to cancer patients 
and depends on well wishers and volunteers to keep it 
operational.

On a separate occasion Fina Bank donated a cheque worth 
Kes.50,000 towards the Nairobi Hospice. The amount 
contributed to a fundraising exercise for cancer medication.

Kenya Report

Highlights (continued)
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Highlights (continued)

Nanyuki Sponsors Ladies’ Golf and Children’s Cricket Tournament

Fina Bank’s Nanyuki branch sponsored a ladies’ golf 
tournament that attracted over 20 participants at the 
Nanyuki golf club and a cricket tournament at Braeburn 
School on the same day.

The ladies’ golf event attracted golfers from Nanyuki and 
as far as Nyeri. The chilly weather and light showers did not 
hinder the participants as they kept enjoying their favourite 
sport.

Fina Bank Nanyuki branch Manager Dominic Mwenga 
thanked Susan Haworth the event organizer for giving the 
Bank the opportunity to sponsor the event. Susan Haworth 
a renowned golfer in Nanyuki recognized the Bank for its 
contribution by way of prizes and branded polo shirts.

The Cricket Tournament brought young children and parents 
together to raise funds towards environmental conservation 
in the region.

“Cricket is gaining a lot of popularity in the area and we 
believe that the children are going to enjoy it as they focus 
on the key reason on why they are here”, said one of the 
participants.

Fina Bank Nanyuki branch Manager Dominic Mwenga 
encouraged the event and said that it was a window 
of opportunity for young children to learn the need for 
habitable environment. 

Braeburn Nanyuki Cricket Sponsorship. Golf participant during the Nanyuki Ladies Golf Tournament.

Kenya Report
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Highlights (continued)

Fina Bank Sponsors fireworks display at St. Andrews Turi Kenya

Fina Bank sponsored in kind a fireworks display at 
St. Andrews School Turi to mark the institution’s 80th 
anniversary.

Represented by eight members of staff drawn from Fina’s 
Nakuru and Nairobi branches, the team set up information 
desks, banners and tents within the premises where 
parents, teachers and students visited and made inquiries 
about the Bank.

Parents and teachers were interested in knowing about 
saving for their children’s future and the team gladly 
introduced them to the Bank and took them through the 
various products and services on offer.

Fina Bank Nakuru Branch team pose with the Principal of St. Andrews Turi.

Kenya Report
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Fina Bank Uganda Partners with Ovino Market Traders

Established more than 40 years ago, Ovino market has 
been credited as being the largest market in East and 
Central Africa servicing between 30,000 to 50,000 traders 
and customers everyday.

Having established the Ovino branch 3 years ago, 
customers predominantly from the Ovino market have 
come to appreciate the customer service offered by the 
branch.

In the words of the Chairman of the Ovino market welfare 
team, “we appreciate the services offered by Fina 
Bank Uganda and in particular Ovino branch. Your staff 
understand our business needs.”

Being a responsible corporate citizen, Fina Bank partnered 
with the Ovino welfare team to improve the welfare of 
traders and customers of the market.

Fina Bank Uganda CEO Charles Nalyaali and Ovino welfare team after settling the partnership deal.

Uganda Report

Highlights (continued)
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Fina Bank Kyaliwajjala Branch Officially Opened

In March 2011, Fina Bank Uganda opened Kyaliwajjala 
branch. Located in an upcoming Kampala suburb, the 
branch will bring the highest level of customer service that 
customers of Fina Bank Uganda experience.

The branch staff members were eager to launch the branch 
and take up the challenge of serving customer needs in 
the area.

During the official opening, Fina Bank Group Chairman 
Mr. D. H. Chandaria congratulated Fina Bank Uganda  and 
said that the branch is set to continue with the Bank’s 
commitment in building long term relations. 

Mr. D. H. Chandaria was in the company of Board Directors, 
Uganda CEO Charles Nalyaali among other bank officials.

Kyaliwajjala branch brings the total number of branches of 
Fina Bank Uganda to 6 in less than three years.

Fina Bank Group Chairman Mr. D.H. Chandaria among other directors and branch officials during the official opening of Kyaliwajjala branch.

Uganda Report

Highlights (continued)
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Open Forum Day: A Fina Bank Uganda Initiative

Success and business excellence is not a result of one 
action but many actions, each bringing us closer to our 
desired goals. 

Fina Bank Uganda Limited led by CEO Mr. Charles Nalyaali 
and Executive Director Mr. Pankaj Sharma held the first 
ever Fina Bank Open Forum day at Kiira Road branch.

The forum day was used to discuss the strategic plan of the 
Bank and receive feedback on the Bank’s position.

Various teams freely shared experiences and the discussion 
held covered a number of areas including customer care, 
customer retention, the country’s economic situation, 
on the job challenges, communication policy and salary 
reviews.

At Fina Bank, we understand that feedback is essential 
in any business as it tells you what is working and what is 
not. It provides you with fresh ideas on techniques you can 
employ to improve your business giving you insight into the 
needs of your customers.

Fina Bank Uganda CEO Charles Nalyaali and staff members pose for a photo after the Open Forum event.

Uganda Report

Highlights (continued)
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Industrial Area and Ovino Branches Excel 

In the pursuit of achieving sustained results year after year, 
Fina Bank Uganda decided to motivate its staff members in 
a competition to raise deposits.

The 3 month campaign saw all staff members 
enthusiastically seek customer deposits as part of the 
excellence in service initiatives. The campaign confirmed an 
already established truth that Life is a web of relationships, 
alone we can do so little; together we can do so much. 

The end of the campaign saw the Industrial Area and Ovino 
branches raise the largest number of deposits.

In accepting their reward of Ugx 1,710,400 the branch 
managers agreed that permanence, perseverance, and 
persistence in spite of all obstacles, discouragements, and 
possibilities, are the things that distinguish the strong from 
the weak. 

Uganda Report

Fina Bank Uganda CEO hands over a dummy cheque to Industrial Area and Ovino Branch.

Highlights (continued)
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Creating Customer Value is the central theme that drives 
the Bank. Whilst this can be achieved in a myriad of ways, 
the Bank took the opportunity of putting into action their 
core values in the field. 

In an attempt to create a culture of high performance 
the Fina Bank team was challenged to work together and 
excel at the Inter Bank games held at MTN arena on 20th 
November and 4th December consecutively.

Being one of the 23 participants, the team from the Bank 
worked together to edge out competition. The Bank’s team 
aggressively competed and excelled in badminton, volley 
ball and darts among others.

At the end of the tournaments, it was noted that the Bank’s 
team was more focused on its set strategic objectives and 
the members encouraged the drive to attain leadership in 
the Banking Industry in the field of service delivery.  

Using Sports as a Means of Building Strong Teams

Fina Bank Uganda Volleyball team during the Gala.

Uganda Report

Highlights (continued)
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For the last two years, Fina Bank Uganda Limited has 
sponsored major motorsports events in Uganda including 
the Mbarara Motor Sprint, the Festino Motor Sprint and 
more recently the Central Broadcasting Services Motor 
Sprint.

While handing over the sponsorship package, the Bank’s 
CEO Mr. Charles Nalyaali said “It’s our responsibility to give 
back to the community and we are committed to continue 
partnering with different stakeholders and sponsoring 
worthy causes that bring joy and happiness to the people.”

The event attracted over 50 rally vehicles which were 
flagged off at our new Kyaliwajjala Branch. The rally 
attracted crowds from as far as Kiira, Naalya, Namugongo 
and Kireka.

Fina Bank Supports Uganda Motorsports 

Uganda Report

Fina Bank Uganda CEO flags of a sports car during the CBS Premier Sprint.

Highlights (continued)
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Rusizi Branch Officially Opens

Fina Bank officially opened its Rusizi district branch to the 
public. Led by the Head of Consumer Banking Mr. Eugene 
Muligande and the Executive Secretary of Kamembe sector 
Mr. Gilbert Rukazambuga, the official opening ceremony 
was attended by various stakeholders and Bank authorities. 

Head of Consumer Banking, Mr. Eugene Muligande thanked 
the customers for their eagerness to promptly join the 
branch. He added that the Bank is focused to meet their 
needs and presents the opportunity to serve them better.

In his speech the branch Manager Mr. Joseph Mpunyu 
Ntege promised the people of Rusizi that they will enjoy the 
exceptional customer service experienced by the Bank’s 
customers.  

He reported that after just three months from the opening 
of the branch in Rusizi district, more than 300 accounts 
had been opened and credited.

The official opening ceremony of Rusizi Branch.

Rwanda Report

Highlights (continued)



FINA BANK . ANNUAL REPORT . DECEMBER 2 0 1 1 27

Fina Bank Pays Tribute to Genocide Victims

Fina Bank donated Rwf 500,000 towards the maintenance 
of the Kigali Gisozi Genocide Memorial Centre in 
remembrance of the 1994 genocide victims.

The Managing Director, Rao G. Balivada, said that it was 
their duty to always give back to the community, and the 
donation will go towards maintaining the archives for future 
generations.

Mr. Balivada added that it was the responsibility of every 
Rwandese to pay tribute to those who passed on during 
the dark time and called upon the perpetrators to seek for 
forgiveness while encouraging survivors to forgive as it is 
the only way to build unity and reconciliation.

Head of Treasury Mr. Richard Ngabonziza said that it was 
important for the institution to donate because many 
people were affected during the time.

“We were all affected during the Genocide, building and 
maintaining the archives is something that will help our 
sons and daughters know really what happened,” he 
added.

Fina Bank has adopted two orphans, Claudine Uwimana 
and Martin Baributsa, who are now studying at Mudende 
University.

Fina Bank’s Rwanda MD Mr. Rao Balivada and team pay tribute to genocide victims at the Gisozi Genocide Memorial Centre.

Rwanda Report

Highlights (continued)
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Fina Bank Offers Free Medical Cover to Over 400 Families 

The President of Kibungo sector Administrative Committee 
said that although they have different financial institutions 
in Kibungo sector, Fina Bank was the first one to support 
the community. 

He emphasized that sustainable development cannot be 
reached without having a healthy life. He reminded people 
the importance of medical insurance and encouraged them 
to go to clinic whenever they are sick.

Excitedly, Mrs. Agnès Mukarugwiza, one of the medical 
insurance grant beneficiaries, expressed her heartfelt 
gratitude to Fina Bank and the local leadership. She said 
they were like orphans before and Fina Bank gave them 
hope.

The free medical insurance cover campaign will see the 
Bank’s branches identify those in need but cannot afford 
medical insurance.

In a bid to improve the social and economic status for the 
people of Rwanda, Fina Bank set a countrywide campaign 
to offer free medical insurance (Mutuelle de Santé) to over 
400 families.

“The cause is our way of participating and contributing to a 
healthy country,” said Fina Bank Ngoma branch Manager 
Mr. Guillaume Munyakabanza. 

He encouraged the people of Cyasemakamba cell, Kibungo 
sector to partner with the Bank and affirmed that Fina Bank 
welcomes everybody regardless of their status and urged 
people to take up and keep the saving culture regardless 
of their income.

Rwanda Report

Fina Bank Rwanda official Innocent Murwanashyaka (right) hands free medical insurance cover.

Highlights (continued)
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After touring round the country distributing medical 
insurance, Fina Bank Rwanda donated Rwf 900,000 
towards children in Rubavu District orphaned by the 1994 
Genocide.

In his opening word, Rev. Masasu warmly welcomed the 
team and thanked them for the visit stating that knowing 
God is the prime foundation for a better future. 

Mr. Iddi Ndinda, who was representing Fina Bank at 
the event, advised the children to be honest people in 
whatsoever they undertake and urged them to hope for a 
better future. 

A representative child said, “I am thankful to Fina Bank for 
this visit. We do not have anything tangible to thank you 
with; all we can do is appreciate this gesture and thank 
God for you.”

The Vice Mayor of Rubavu district, Rachel Mukarusine 
who also attended this event, thanked Fina Bank for the 
kind gesture of visiting and supporting the children and 
advocated that the action would be an example to other 
organizations.  

Present were representatives from AVEGA and the 
FARG Rubavu district branch. The donation consisted of 
provisions like rice, beans sugar, cooking oil,  and other 
sanitary items. 

Fina Bank Visits Children Orphaned by the 1994 Genocide

Fina Bank Rwanda team donates food stuff to children orphaned by genocide in Rubavu District.

Rwanda Report
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The guest of honor and Mayor of Rusizi District, Mr. Oscar 
Nzeyimana expressed his sincere gratitude to Fina Bank 
for their charitable program to help people improve their 
standard of living and supporting Government programs 
including medical insurance and basic education.

After the community work there was an entertaining football 
match between Ubumwe Club and Club Familiale where 
Ubumwe won five goals to three.

At Fina Bank we pride ourselves in being responsible to the 
wider community. Prior to the launch of Rusizi branch, Fina 
Bank Rwanda donated medical insurance to 100 people of 
Kamembe sector and an extra Rwf 300,000 in support of 
basic education program. 

The official community work was attended by citizens and 
took place in Kamembe sector incorporating different 
authorities of the army and police, as well as Fina Bank 
staff.

During the ceremony, The Executive Secretary of Kamembe 
sector thanked Fina Bank for the endorsement and 
promised them partnership between the Bank and citizens 
of the sector. 

Rwanda Report

Fina Bank Rwanda team participates in Rusizi clean up.

Rusizi Branch Cleans the Environment

Highlights (continued)
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Fina Bank Employees Participate on Umuganda Day

Speaking at the event, Head of Treasury Mr. Richard 
Ngabonziza promised to work hand in hand with the 
Rulindo residents and confirmed that it was the duty of 
every Rwandese to participate in Umuganda day.

In addition the Bank paid communal health insurance 
cover (Mutuelle de Santé), for 50 families and donated Rwf 
200,000, towards the completion of the classrooms.

Fina Bank staff, joined residents of Rushaki Sector in 
Rulindo District in the monthly community work Umuganda 
and contributed to the construction of three classrooms at 
Group Scolaire Tara set to accommodate students under 
the new 12-Year-Basic Education program. 

The Mayor of Rulindo Justus Kangwagye, thanked the Bank, 
for the support, and called upon residents to make good 
use of the assistance, saying that if they redoubled their 
efforts, they could take on any challenge.

He told the people of Tara that they have the power and will 
to tackle head-on other shortcomings they face.

Fina Bank Rwanda team help build a school during Umuganda day.

Rwanda Report

Highlights (continued)
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Leah Gathenya
Executive Secretary to Chairman and to CEO & MD  

................................................................................................................................................................................

I joined Fina Bank back in 1999 and I have witnessed it grow from a small financial 
institution to the Preferred Regional Business Bank in East Africa.

Working with Fina Bank has had its challenges, but moments of joy, growth and prosperity 
are more as we have achieved a lot through teamwork, integrity and professionalism. 

I started off as the Executive Secretary to the Managing Director and now I am currently the 
Personal Assistant to the Chairman, to the Managing Director, and to the Board of Directors 
with added responsibility of overseeing auxiliary staff.

One thing I am passionate about my job is that I face challenges every day, something 
that brings out the best in me. I find it very rewarding when I get positive feedback from 
colleagues and customers and that motivates me to excel.

An important part of being a Personal Assistant is simply being prepared for any given 
challenge. One plays a secretarial role, a receptionist and a travel agent among others. 
The main point in this profession is that one needs to be good at calendar juggling, dealing 
with multiple bosses, changes in the organization, demanding deadlines, and strict time 
management skills. Hence there is need for one to be organized, flexible, and able to 
prioritize effectively.

I have great expectations for the Bank. Like in our mission statement and taking into 
consideration the pace at which the Bank is growing at, I see Fina Bank being the leading 
Business Bank across East Africa.

................................................................................................................................................................................

Staff Profile Kenya
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Gateja Bosco 
Marketing Officer Fina Bank (U) Limited 

...............................................................................................................................................................................

I joined Fina Bank in January 2009 and the experience has shaped me into a professional.

It has not been easy but the opportunities set before me have made me grow from the young 
ambitious man who walked through the Bank’s door’s three years ago to who I am today.

I have learnt that paying attention to detail, coordinating events and working together in 
teamwork are a matter of principle towards effective delivery of my work.

Working in a fast growing Bank in a dynamic economy like Uganda’s presents an exciting yet 
demanding challenge which is to move faster than the pace of the economy.

The dynamism of the Bank coupled with the best team to ever be put together are the right 
ingredients for growth and prosperity within any sector. I see Fina Bank being the leading 

business Bank to reckon with in future.

...............................................................................................................................................................................
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Staff Profile Rwanda

Noel Muhawenimana
Team Leader, Business Department

...............................................................................................................................................................................

I joined Fina Bank Rwanda in January 2009 as a Relationship Officer and later got promoted 
to a Relationship Manager in December 2010. Currently I am Team Leader, Business 
Department. 

One thing I admire about my line of work is the ability to consistently be flexible and deal with 
new and existing customers. The opportunities for growth are beyond imagination as one 
task takes you from one level to the next.

It has not been easy though, the challenges are consistent but thanks to the vibrant and 
dynamic team we achieve results that spur personal growth as well as organizational goals.

I am proud to work with Fina Bank. I have gained a lot of experience in customer service, 
lending process and team work. My ambition is to develop my career in this Institution and 
accept challenges as they provide an opportunity that present growth in my career.

...............................................................................................................................................................................
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Customer Profile Kenya

Gao Yu International Company
Peony Estate

..................................................................................................................................................................

With the fast growth of its real estate sector, Kenya is attracting investors from all over the 
world.  Though fresh in Kenya, Gao Yu International Company embraced this opportunity and 

is currently developing Peony Estate residential houses for sale based along Gitanga road 
opposite Braeburn School in Nairobi.

The company’s current project entails the construction of 108 units of 3, 4, and 5 bedroom 
houses.

Before venturing into Kenya, Marketing Manager Miss Huangpin said that the company had 
to research into several factors such as investment opportunities, government regulations 

and political and climatic conditions. All this was not easy, reckons Huangpin. The company 
has gone through a lot in securing a go-ahead letter from the Government, Council hold ups, 

power, water and human resource, the exchange rate and the high lending rates in Kenya.

Peony Estate has provided employment to around 100 people at different levels. Its 
relationship with Fina Bank is intimate and the Bank has guided it in respect of the Kenyan 

Market.

“The Bank staff is very friendly and has advised us when we were new in the market. They 
listened to us and honored our ground breaking ceremony with the presence of their Managing 
Director & CEO Mr. Bhaskar Ghose, which revealed to us that this was not just a Bank but also 

a partner”, Ms. Huangpin said. 

Gao Yu International Company is one of China Sichuan’s top 100 enterprises. It has ventured 
in construction, real estate development, building material, property management, chemicals 

and petrochemicals, power, natural gas, wood, food and tourism among other industries. 
....................................................................................................................................................................
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Mr. Juzzaeir Hussein
Juyushi Enterprises 
Gikomba

.........................................................................................................................................................................

Working with his brother in an established school uniform company based in Mombasa was not 
content for Mr. Juzzaeir Hussein who later moved to Nairobi to start Juyushi Enterprises at Gikomba 
market.

Out of self will, determination and risk, Mr. Hussein started his own business, which he reckons how 
he almost gave up due to the various challenges. Unlike Mombasa which is relaxed and friendly 
Nairobi is the opposite. 

His first month in business, thugs got into his shop and robbed him at gun point. That made him 
boost his security detail with CCTV cameras and caged doors where customers are served from.

The robbery did not bring him down, Mr. Hussein succeeded and went on to expand in the market. 
He looked for opportunities of tapping the up market and opened a shop in Ngara which he later 
closed after three months due to insecurity. 

Mr. Hussein remembers when different banks were enticing him but his switch to Fina Bank was 
necessitated by the exceptional services he received and the personalized relationship banking that 
he got from the Gikomba branch. 

“I am a business person committed to payment, prestige, credibility and integrity. I know if one 
customer is satisfied then my business name is good out there”, says Mr. Hussein. 

The busy environment has 12 members of staff who serve hundreds of walk in customers weekly. 
Some prestige customers send money directly from their phones, while others go with bank slips or 
bankers cheques. 

Mr. Juzzaeir Hussein knows that luck and God’s blessings are very essential, as he has witnessed 
entrepreneurs start up and fail. His advise to entrepreneurs is to seek a financial partner who will 
walk with them all through.

........................................................................................................................................................................

Customer Profile Kenya
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Customer Profile Uganda

Namukasa Joyce
Nakivubo 

................................................................................................................................................................

I came to learn about Fina Bank through my Relationship Manager, who approached me and 
asked me to open an account with the Bank. I wasn’t curious about the Bank and not very 

interested at first but their commitment to the SME industry in the East African region intrigued 
me. Eventually, I agreed to open an account and I have to say I have no regrets at all. 

For 11 years I have run a hardware shop in one of the busiest areas in Kampala and I get 
customers from all walks of life, this leaves me with no time to handle my financial matters and 

I have never found a bank that values their customers as Fina Bank.

I have now been with the Bank for one and a half years and it has been a good experience. I 
think my biggest satisfaction can be gained from the fact that since joining Fina Bank, I have 

been able to expand my stock up to three times and service several new clients.  

Previously I was frustrated that I was not growing as much as I wanted, but with the 
personalized relationship management offered by the Bank, I have experienced substantial 
growth and my advisor knows my needs and shows me what I need to fully utilize my funds. 

In future I am looking at importing hardware materials from China and Dubai to strengthen my 
business and I believe that Fina Bank will be able to assist me get to this point. What makes 

Fina Bank different is its personalized relationship management.

................................................................................................................................................................
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Customer Profile Uganda

...............................................................................................................................................................................

I was enticed to join Fina Bank Uganda by an employee of the Bank who passionately 
talked about the financial  services offered more specifically the relationship models used 
in managing customers. Later I opened up a company account in the name of Woodmore 
Energy Consultancy Limited and everything that I had been told was true. Since then I have 
enjoyed the highest level of professionalism and expertise exhibited by Fina Bank staff.

Energy business in Uganda calls for a financial provider, who understands and appreciates 
your business and Fina Bank, has proved to Woodmore that it can handle all our financial 
needs.  The treasury department updates us on how the market is and whether the rates are 
favorable. 

The Bank has played a major role in the growth of Woodmore Energy Consultancy limited, 
enabling us to increase and expand our customer base as well as turnovers. This has 
enabled us meet our clients demands in the shortest time possible. 

The personalized services are still a wonder to us because we are treated like we are the 
only customers at the Bank.

With the support am getting from Fina Bank am able to meet all my clients demands in the 
shortest time possible. We also envisage establishing trading lines in Kenya and Rwanda 
thanks to Fina Bank.

...............................................................................................................................................................................

Woodmore Energy Consultancy Limited
Directors: David Kayemba and George Kusimba
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Daphrose Nyirasafali, MPH

...............................................................................................................................................................................

I started working with Fina Bank since July 2011, when I opened a salary account. Six 
months later, I applied for a loan to purchase a house and it was immediately bestowed 

without any guarantee other than my salary. 

Thanks to effective collaboration and reliability in repayment of my loans I was given many 
other credit facilities that helped me purchase a car, pay tuition fees for my Masters Studies 

and pay university studies for my children.

Fina Bank considers its clients and the Relationship Managers are professional listeners 
and advisers who immediately launch into action providing adequate solutions without 

complications. 

I appreciate the ATM services, that helps in reducing time, Fina Junior account that assist 
us save for our children as well as MoneyGram that provides an opportunity to make 

International money transfers at a more reduced cost.

I believe that in future Fina Bank will give us long term loans that will help us continue 
to develop and build our country towards vision 2020 plus compete in the East Africa 

Community. 

My partnership with Fina Bank has taken me to great heights of achieving what is beyond 
imagination for my family and I.

...............................................................................................................................................................................

Customer Profile Rwanda
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REGISTERED OFFICE 
LR. Plot No. 209/X11/624
FINA House, Kimathi Street
P O Box 20613
Nairobi - 00200 

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. N. N. Shah 
Certified Public Secretaries (Kenya)
P O Box 49874
Nairobi - 00100

AUDITOR
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants 
The Rahimtulla Tower
Upper Hill Road
P O Box 43963
Nairobi - 00100

PRINCIPAL LEGAL ADVISORS
Hamilton Harrison & Mathews 
ICEA Building, Kenyatta Avenue
P O Box 30333
Nairobi - 00100

Shah & Shah 
Standard Chambers, Kimathi Street                                            
P.O. Box 45839
Nairobi - 00100

Walker Kontos 
Hakika House, Bishop Road
P O Box 60680
Nairobi - 00200

CORRESPONDENT BANKS 

US Dollar (USD) 
Standard Chartered Bank, New York

US Dollar (USD) 
SOCIÉTÉ GÉNÉRALE, New York

Euro (EUR) 
Standard Chartered Bank, Frankfurt 

Indian Rupee (INR) 
ICICI Bank Limited, Mumbai

South African Rand (ZAR) 
Standard Bank of SA Limited, Johannesburg
ABSA Bank Limited, Johannesburg

British Pound (GBP) 
Standard Chartered Bank, London

Australian Dollar (AUD) 
Commonwealth Bank of Australia, Sydney

Japanese Yen (JPY)
Standard Chartered Bank, Tokyo

Corporate Information
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DIRECTORS  
Mr. Dhanu Chandaria1  Chairman and Non Executive Director
Mr. Nalinkumar Shah  Non Executive Director
Mr. Rameshkumar Patel  Non Executive Director
Mr. Hanish Chandaria1  Non Executive Group Director (Executive Director up to October  13, 2011; 

appointed Non Executive Group Director w.e.f October 13, 2011)
Mr. Macharia Njeru                           Non Executive Director
Mr. Steve Mainda, EBS        Non Executive Director
Mr. Bhaskar Ghose2  Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer (Appointed on July 15, 2011)
Mr. Rajesh Kapoor2  Executive Director, Business Support (Appointed on October 13, 2011)

KEY MANAGEMENT  
Mr. Bhaskar Ghose  Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Rajesh Kapoor  Executive Director, Business Support
Mr. Alex Mbatha  Head of Finance
Mr. Villupuram Abiraman  Head of Treasury
Mr. Michael Obiero  Head of Service Delivery
Mr. Bhaskar Kalyanaraman  Head of Credit
Ms. Damaris Lilech  Head of Human Resources
Mr. Louis Niyogambo  Group Head of IT
Mr. Norris Digo  Ag. Head of Business
Ms. Bernadette Ngara  Head of Marketing
Mr. Charles Amanga  Compliance Manager
Mr. Dipan Shah  Head of Audit
Ms. Ndila Mulinge  Legal Manager

BOARD CREDIT COMMITTEE  
Mr. Steve Mainda, EBS        Chairman
Mr. Dhanu Chandaria  (Member up to October 13, 2011)
Mr. Nalinkumar Shah  Member
Mr. Rameshkumar Patel  Member
Mr. Hanish Chandaria  Member (from October 13, 2011)

1 British 

2 Indian 

Corporate Information (continued)
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BOARD AUDIT COMMITTEE  
Mr. Nalinkumar Shah  Chairman
Mr. Steve Mainda, EBS        Member
Mr. Hanish Chandaria  Member (from October 13, 2011)
Mr. Harilal Nathwani  Member

BOARD RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE  
Mr. Macharia Njeru                           Chairman
Mr. Rameshkumar Patel  Member
Mr. Steve Mainda, EBS        Member 

BOARD ASSETS AND LIABILITIES COMMITTEE  
Mr. Hanish Chandaria  Chairman (from October 13, 2011)
Mr. Rameshkumar Patel  Chairman (until October 13, 2011)
Mr. Macharia Njeru                           Member
Mr. Nalinkumar Shah  Member

BOARD HUMAN RESOURCE COMMITTEE  
Mr. Macharia Njeru                           Chairman
Mr. Dhanu Chandaria  (Member up to July 15, 2011)
Mr. Nalinkumar Shah  Member
Mr. Hanish Chandaria  Member (from October 13, 2011)

BOARD CORE BANKING SYSTEM CHANGE COMMITTEE    
Mr. Steve Mainda, EBS        Chairman 
Mr. Nalinkumar Shah  Member 
Mr. Hanish Chandaria  Member (from October 13, 2011) 

Corporate Information (continued)
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LAVINGTON BRANCH
ABC Place: Waiyaki Way
P. O. Box 14309, Nairobi - 00800
Tel/fax: +254 (0) 20 4440755
E-mail: lavington@finabank.com

MUTHAIGA BRANCH
Sharp Building
Wambui Rd, Off Thika Highway
P. O. Box 20613, Nairobi - 00200
Tel: +254 (0) 20 3740312
Fax: +254 (0) 20 3743369
E-mail: muthaiga@finabank.com

GIKOMBA BRANCH
Kensta Metal Building
New Pumwani Road
P. O. Box 20613, Nairobi - 00200
Tel: +254 (0) 20 6768515
Fax: +254 (0) 20 6768516
E-mail: gikomba@finabank.com

NGONG ROAD BRANCH
Piedmont Plaza, Ngong Road.
P. O. Box 20613 - 00200, Nairobi 
Tel: +254 (0) 20 3861563
E-mail: ngongroad@finabank.com

THIKA BRANCH
Kigio Plaza, Kwame Nkrumah St.
P. O. Box 4103, Thika - 01002
Tel: +254 (0) 67 20186
Fax: +254 (0) 67 20193
E-mail: thika@finabank.com

MOMBASA BRANCH
Ambalal House: Nkrumah Road. 
P.O.Box 90089, Mombasa - 80100
Tel: +254 (0) 41 2225852
Fax: +254 (0) 41 2229559
E-mail: mombasa@finabank.com

NAKURU BRANCH
Giddo Plaza
P.O Box 12366, Nakuru - 20100
Tel: +254 (0) 51 2213655
Fax: +254 (0) 51 2213599
E-mail: nakuru@finabank.com

ELDORET BRANCH
Charotar Patel Plaza (2000)
P.O Box 8371, Eldoret - 30100
Tel: +254 (0) 53 2030922
Fax: +254 (0) 53 2030925
E-mail: eldoret@finabank.com

MERU BRANCH
Alexander Building, Ghana Road.
P.O.BOX 1733 - 60200, Meru
Tel: +254 (0) 64 30210/1/2
Fax: +254 (0) 64 30218
E-mail: meru@finabank.com

NANYUKI BRANCH
Kenyatta Street
P.O Box 1715, Nanyuki - 10400
Tel: +254 (0) 62 32113
Fax: +254 (0) 62 32826
E-mail: nanyuki@finabank.com

Branches

KENYA

HEAD OFFICE
FINA House, Kimathi Street
P. O. Box 20613, Nairobi - 00200
Tel: +254 (0) 20 3284000
Cell: +254 (0) 703 084000
Fax: +254 (0) 20 247164
E-mail: banking@finabank.com
Website: www.finabank.com
Swift: FBAKKENA

KIMATHI BRANCH
FINA House, Kimathi Street
P. O. Box 20613, Nairobi - 00200
Tel: +254 (0) 20 3284000
Fax: +254 (0) 20 2229696
E-mail: kimathi@finabank.com

INDUSTRIAL AREA BRANCH
Enterprise/Bamburi Road
P. O. Box 18647, Nairobi - 00500
Tel: +254 (0) 20  552692
Fax: +254 (0) 20 652454
E-mail: indarea@finabank.com

WESTLANDS BRANCH
Apic Centre, Parklands Ring Road
P. O. Box 13896, Nairobi - 00800
Tel: +254 (0) 20 3744138
Fax: +254 (0) 20 3748895
E-mail: westlands@finabank.com

Corporate Information (continued)
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RWANDA

KIGALI CITY BRANCH
20 Bld de la Revolution
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 598600
Fax: +250 (0) 252 573486
E-mail: banking@finabank.co.rw 

NGOMA BRANCH (Ex Kibungo)
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 566393
Fax: +250 (0) 252 566394
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw 

MUSANZE BRANCH (Ex Ruhenge)
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 546305
Fax: +250 (0) 252 547106
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw 

REMERA BRANCH
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 580551/2
Fax: +250 (0) 252 580045 
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw 

KARONGI BRANCH (Ex Kibuye)
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 568305
Fax: +250 (0) 252 568203
E-mail: Info@finabank.co.rw 

RUBAVU BRANCH ( Ex Gisenyi)
Rue de l`Aeroport, Rubavu 
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 540071
Fax: +250 (0) 252 566393
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw 

MUHANGA BRANCH ( Ex Gitarama) 
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 562798 
Fax: +250 (0) 252 562796
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw 

RUHANGO BRANCH 
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 562798 
Fax: +250 (0) 252 562796
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw 

NYIRANGAMA BRANCH
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 546305
Fax: +250 (0) 252 547106
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw 

NYABUGOGO BRANCH 
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 598601
Fax: +250 (0) 252 573486
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw 

KIGALI CITY MARKET BRANCH 
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 598600                     
Fax : +250 (0) 252 573486
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw

RUSIZI BRANCH (Ex Cyangugu)
P. O Box 331, Kigali                          
Tel: +250 (0) 252 598600                     
Fax: +250 (0) 252 573486
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw

RUBAVU (Petite Barriere) BRANCH 
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 540071
Fax: +250 (0) 252 566394
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw

KABARONDO BRANCH 
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 566393
Fax: +250 (0) 252 566394
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw

KAYONZA BRANCH
P O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 566393
Fax: +250 (0) 252 566394
E-mail: info@finabank.com

Corporate Information (continued)
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KYALIWAJJALA BRANCH 
Plot: 31 Kyaliwajjala 
Namugongo Road
Tel: (+256) 043 4660647/4660485
E-mail: banking@finabank.co.ug

KIIRA ROAD BRANCH
Fina Bank (Uganda) Ltd
Plot 53 Kiira Road
P. O. Box 7323 Kampala, Uganda
Tel: +256 (0) 414 237284/237305 
Fax: +256 (0) 414 237 305
E-mail: banking@finabank.co.ug

BUGANDA ROAD BRANCH
Fina Bank (Uganda) Ltd
Plot 7 Buganda Road
P. O. Box 7323 Kampala, Uganda
Tel: +256 (0) 414 237284/237305 
Fax: +256 (0) 414 237 305
E-mail: banking@finabank.co.ug 

UGANDA

HEAD OFFICE
Plot 53 Kiira Road
P. O. Box 7323 Kampala, Uganda
Tel: (+256) 414 237 284/237 305
Fax: (+256) 414 237 305
E-mail: banking@finabank.co.ug

INDUSTRIAL AREA BRANCH
Plot 13 Mulwana road 
P. O. Box 7323 Kampala, Uganda 
Tel: +256 (0) 414 341 374
Fax: +256 (0) 414 237 305
E-mail: banking@finabank.co.ug 

MBARARA BRANCH
Plot 52/54 High Street
P. O. Box 242 Mbarara, Uganda
Tel: +256 (0) 485 421255/246
Fax: +256 (0) 414 237 305
E- mail: banking@finabank.co.ug

NAKIVUBO ROAD BRANCH
Fina Bank (Uganda) Ltd
Plot 34/38 Nakivubo Rd
P. O. Box 7323 Kampala, Uganda
Tel: +256 (0) 414233813/812 
Fax: +256 (0) 414 237 305
E-mail: banking@finabank.co.ug

OVINO BRANCH 
Plot 22 Kisenyi Road
P. O. Box 7323 Kampala, Uganda. 
Tel: +256 (0) 414 250 766
Fax: +256 (0) 414 237 305 
E-mail: banking@finabank.co.ug 

Corporate Information (continued)



46 FINA BANK . ANNUAL REPORT . DECEMBER2 0 1 1

STEVE MAINDA, EBS
Non-Executive Director

RAMESHKUMAR PATEL
Non-Executive Director

RAJESH KAPOOR 
Executive Director, Business Support

L - R

Board of Directors Kenya

DHANU CHANDARIA
Chairman
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HANISH CHANDARIA
Non-Executive Group Director

BHASKAR GHOSE
Managing Director & CEO

MACHARIA NJERU
Non-Executive Director

NALINKUMAR SHAH
Company Secretary
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Management Team Kenya

JENITA CHANDARIA
Head of Liability & Pricing

BHASKAR GHOSE
Managing Director & CEO

DAMARIS LILECH
Head of HR

CHARLES AMANGA
Head of Compliance

DIPAN SHAH
Head of Audit

SEATED  L - R

STANDING  L - R

RAJESH KAPOOR 
Executive Director, Business Support

MICHAEL OBIERO
Head of Service Delivery
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NORRIS DIGO
Ag Head of Business

ANDREW MWANGI
Head of IT

VILLUPURAM ABIRAMAN
Head of Treasury

ALEX MBATHA
Head of Finance

BERNADETTE NGARA
Head of Marketing

BHASKAR KALYANARAMAN
Head of Credit

NDILA MULINGE
Legal Manager
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Board of Directors Uganda

RAMESH BABU
Non-Executive Director

DHANU CHANDARIA
Non-Executive Director

MACHARIA NJERU
Non-Executive Director

PANKAJ SHARMA
Executive Director

HANISH CHANDARIA
Non-Executive Group Director

CHARLES NALYAALI 
CEO

HIGIRI SEMAJEGE (Seated)
Non-Executive Director

IRENE MUTUMBA 
Non-Executive Director

L - R
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Management Team Uganda

KATWAZA STANLEY
Head of Audit

POORAN KUKREJA
Head of Credit

GLADYS NANTEGE
Head of Finance

PANKAJ SHARMA
Executive Director

ANNE IRUMBA
Head of Operations

PEACE ADIA
Head of Treasury

CAROL OJIEK 
Head of Credit

RONNIE KABUUZA
Manager Risk

CHARLES NALYAALI
CEO

BWANA MOSES
Head of IT

SEATED L - R

STANDING L - R
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Board of Directors Rwanda

GERALD MPYISI
Non-Executive Director

DHANU CHANDARIA
Non-Executive Director

RAO BALIVADA
Managing Director

MACHARIA NJERU
Chairman

NALINKUMAR SHAH
Non-Executive Director

BENJAMIN GASAMAGERA
Non-Executive Director

HANISH CHANDARIA
Non-Executive Group Director

CELESTINE KAYITARE 
Non-Executive Director

KAMPETA PITCHETTE 
SAYINZOGA 
Non-Executive Director

KENNETH AGABA 
Executive Director

L - R
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Management Team Rwanda

RAO BALIVADA 
Managing Director

RICHARD NGABONZIZA 
Head Of Treasury

DEO SEBIGARAGARA 
Head of Risk

GERMAINE MUKAMUSANA 
Head of Business Banking

KENNETH AGABA 
Executive Director

WILLY KANAMUGIRE 
Manager, Credit

GIRASO IMACULEE 
Manager, Compliance

LOUIS NIYONGABO 
Group Head of IT

ANITA UMUHIRE
Head of Finance

SANDEEP SHARMA
Head of Retail

EUGENE MULIGANDE
Head of Consumer Banking

ALOYS GASANA
Head of Audit

SANDRA CYAMWENSHI
Head of Legal and Recovery

ODETTE RWUBUZIZI
Manager, HR

SEATED L - R

STANDING L - R
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Financial Highlights

2%3%
8%

32%

3%

52%

Distribution of Assets

Loans and Advances to Customers
Deposit and Balances Due From Other Banks
Government Securitites
Cash and Central Bank Balances
Property and Equipment
Other Assets        
  

  
Customer Deposit  
Shareholders’ Equity  
Other Liabilities  
Deposit From Other Banks 
 

  
Net Interest Income  
Fees and Commision Income 
Foreign Exchange Income 
Other income  

  
Net Interest Income  
Fees and Commision Income 
Foreign Exchange Income 
Other income  

Liabilities, Shareholders and Equity Composition

Distribution of Operating Income 2010

Distribution of Operating Income 2011
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Fina Bank is committed to adhering to the highest standards of good corporate governance at all levels of its operations. This commitment is rooted to our core values and beliefs. We have put in 
place elaborate governance processes which comply with industry best practice. 

Board Charter and Work Plan
The Board’s responsibilities are set out in the Board Charter. The Board Charter contains provisions which ensure that the Board observes best practice in corporate governance and contains among 
other things policies on: the size, role and functions of the Board; appointments and induction of directors; board performance evaluation; and remuneration of directors.

The work plan has a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved for the Board’s attention to ensure it exercises full control over all significant matters. It sets out the schedule of meetings of 
the Board and its committees and the main business to be dealt with at those meetings. Additional meetings are scheduled as and when necessary.

Board Composition and Appointments
The Board currently consists of:

Chairman   1

Executive Director   2

Non-Executive Directors  5

The Non-Executive Directors are drawn from a wide range of business and other backgrounds. This diversity is considered by the members as one of the strengths of the Board.

The Board evaluates the performance of the management in order to be satisfied as to the integrity and strength of financial information, controls and risk management. Through the Board Human 
Resource Committee, they have a prime role in appointing, removing and succession planning of senior management and, responsible for determining appropriate levels of remuneration for the 
executive directors and senior management.

All directors receive regular and timely information about the Bank prior to Board meetings. They also have access to the Company Secretary for any further information they may require.  

Board Meetings
The full Board meets at least four times a year.  In addition, the Board meets with senior executives within the Bank and Group for a two day off-site meeting once a year for the purposes of 
considering and approving the Group’s strategy. The Board deals with all significant matters including strategic direction for the Bank and Group; ensuring competent management of the business; 
internal control; compliance with laws and regulations and reporting performance to shareholders.

Corporate Governance Statement
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Attendance of Meetings
The attendance of members at board and at meetings of the Audit, Risk, Assets and Liabilities (ALCO), Credit, Human Resources and CBS Committees during 2011 is detailed below:   

Board Audit Risk ALCO Credit HR CBS

Number of meetings during the year 5 8 4 4 15 4 5
Mr. D. H. Chandaria 100% - - - 86.7% 100% -
Mr. R. M. Patel 100% - 100% 100% 93.3% - -
Mr. M. Njeru                         100% - 100% 100% - 100% -
Mr. N. N. Shah 80% 100% - 100% 100% 100% 100%
Mr. S.O. Mainda, EBS 100% 87.5% 75% - 80% - 80%
Mr. H. D. Chandaria 100% 100% - 100% 100% 100% 100%
Mr. B. Ghose 100% - - - - - -
Mr. R. Kapoor 100% - - - - - -
Mr. H. J. Nathwani - 75% - - - - -

The directors are given appropriate and timely information on key activities of the business in order to carry out their roles. Specifically the directors are provided with supporting papers and relevant 
information for each meeting and are expected to attend, unless there are exceptional circumstances that prevent them from doing so. They may also seek independent professional advice, at the 
Bank’s expense, concerning the affairs of the Bank and Group in consultation with the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.

The Board annually conducts self and peer performance evaluation. The results are used to improve the Board’s performance. At least once a year, the Board meets without the presence of the 
Executive Directors. 

Separation of Roles and Responsibilities 
The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are separate. The Chairman’s main responsibility is to lead and manage the work of the Board to ensure that it operates effectively and fully 
discharges its legal and regulatory responsibilities.  The Board has delegated the responsibility for the day-to-day management of the Bank to the Chief Executive Officer, who is responsible for 
recommending strategy to the Board, and for making and implementing operational decisions.  

The Board has a collective responsibility for the success of the Bank and Group.  However, the Executive Directors have direct responsibility for business operations, whereas Non Executive Directors 
are responsible for bringing independent judgment and scrutiny to decisions taken by the Management, providing objective challenge to the management.

Corporate Governance Statement (continued)
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Committees of the Board
In order for the Board to carry out its functions, and to ensure independent oversight of internal control and risk management, certain aspects of its role are delegated to Board Committees, whose 
members are Non Executive Directors.  The specific matters for which delegated authority has been given are set out in each Board Committee’s terms of reference, which are reviewed annually.

The Board had delegated authority to six principal Board Committees:
 ■ Board Audit Committee
 ■ Board Credit Committee
 ■ Board Risk Committee
 ■ Board Assets and Liabilities Committee
 ■ Board Human Resources Committee
 ■ Board Core Banking System Change Committee 

These committees meet at least on a quarterly basis or whenever there are urgent matters to attend to.

In addition, the Executive Committee, comprising the Chief Executive Officer and his Senior Management meet on a monthly basis. Its main function is to implement and monitor the Bank’s strategy, 
operational plans and financial performance. It is also responsible for the assessment and control of risk.

Internal Control and Risk Management
Internal Control
The directors are responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of the Bank’s system of internal control, including internal financial control. This is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, 
assurance regarding (a) the safeguarding of assets against unauthorised use or disposition and (b) the maintenance of proper accounting records and the reliability of financial information used 
within the business or for publication. These controls are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives due to circumstances which may reasonably be 
foreseen and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Internal Control Framework
Effective corporate governance remains key to the business. The Bank continues to review its internal control framework to ensure it maintains a strong and effective internal control environment. 
The effectiveness of the framework has been under regular review by the senior management.

Risk Management
The Bank has a structure and process to help identify, assess and manage risks. This process has been in place throughout the year.

Corporate Governance Statement (continued)
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The directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011, which disclose the state of affairs of the group and the company.

Principal Activities
The principal activities of the Group are provision of banking and related services. 

Results and Dividend
The net profit after tax for the year of Shs 311 million (2010: Shs 134 million) has been added to retained earnings. The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.

Directors
The directors who held office during the year and to the date of this report were:

Mr. D. H. Chandaria1 -  Chairman
Mr. B. Ghose2 - Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer (Appointed on July 15, 2011)
Mr. N. N. Shah -  Non Executive Director
Mr. R. M Patel -  Non Executive Director
Mr. H. D. Chandaria1 -  Non Executive Director 
Mr. M. Njeru -  Non Executive Director
Mr. S. O. Mainda, EBS -  Non Executive Director
Mr. R. Kapoor2 - Executive Director (Appointed on October 13, 2011)

Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers has indicated its willingness to continue in office in accordance with the provisions of Section 159(2) of the Companies Act and Section 24(1) of the Banking Act.

By Order of the Board

Secretary
March 16, 2012

1 British 

2 Indian

Directors’ Report
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The Kenyan Companies Act requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company as at the end of the 
financial year and of its profit.  It also requires the directors to ensure that the company keeps proper accounting records that disclose, with reasonable accuracy, the financial position of the 
company.  They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group.

The directors accept responsibility for the annual financial statements, which have been prepared using appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable estimates, in conformity with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Kenyan Companies Act and the Banking Act. The directors are of the opinion that the financial statements give a true and fair 
view of the state of the financial affairs of the Group and of its profit in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.  The directors further accept responsibility for the maintenance 
of accounting records that may be relied upon in the preparation of financial statements, as well as designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement.

Nothing has come to the attention of the directors to indicate that the Group will not remain a going concern for at least twelve months from the date of this statement.

Director 

Director 
March 16, 2012

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
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Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Fina Bank Limited (the company) and its subsidiary (together, the group) as set out on pages 62 to 116.  These financial 
statements comprise the consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2011 and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in 
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, together with the statement of financial position of the company standing alone at 31 December 2011 and statement 
of changes in equity of the company for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and with the 
requirements of the Kenyan Companies Act and for such internal control, as the directors determine necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform our audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Opinion
In our opinion the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the financial position of the group and of the company at 31 December 2011 and of the profit and cash 
flows of the group for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the Kenyan Companies Act.

Report on Other Legal Requirements
The Kenyan Companies Act requires that in carrying out our audit we consider and report to you on the following matters.  We confirm that:

 ■ we have obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit;
 ■ in our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the company, so far as appears from our examination of those books; and
 ■ the company’s statement of financial position and income statement are in agreement with the books of account.

        Certified Public Accountants  Mar 23, 2012       
          Nairobi
        

Report of the Independent Auditor to the Members of Fina Bank Limited
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Consolidated Income Statement

2011 2010

Notes Shs’000 Shs’000

Interest income 5 2,312,701 2,100,652
Interest expense 6 (976,361) (948,880)
Net interest income 1,336,340 1,151,772
Fees and commission income 506,777 452,796
Fees and commission expense                                                (27,971) (14,316)
Net fee and commission income 478,806 438,480
Foreign exchange income 268,820 141,676
Other operating income 66,715 236,368
Impairment losses on loans and advances 14 (182,228) (350,502)
Operating expenses 7 (1,493,811) (1,391,327)
Profit before income tax 474,642 226,467
Income tax expense 9 (163,609) (92,394)
Profit for the year (of which Shs. 224.9 million (2010: Shs. 133.5 million) has been dealt with in the accounts of the company) 311,033 134,073
Attributed to:
Equity holders of the Company        272,943 133,828
Non-controlling interest 38,090 245

Earnings per share attributable to the equity holders of the Company 311,033 134,073
Basic and diluted (Shs per share) 10 516.94 253.46
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2011 2010
Shs’000 Shs’000

Profit for the year 311,033 134,073
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax
Gains on revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets (25,485) 4,110
Currency translation differences 32,643 20,605
Other comprehensive income, net of tax 7,158 24,715
Total comprehensive income for the year 318,191 158,788
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 265,665 150,319
Non-controlling interest 52,526 8,469
Total comprehensive income for the year 318,191 158,788

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
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2011 2010
Notes Shs’000 Shs’000

Assets
Cash and balances with Central Banks 11 1,882,958 1,915,445
Government and other securities held to maturity 12(a) 6,566,183 5,140,348
Government and other securities available for sale 12(b) 590,811 1,837,772
Deposits and balances due from other banks 13 573,400 852,713
Loans and advances to customers (net) 14 11,835,689 10,165,285
Property and equipment 16(a) 641,588 578,500
Intangible assets-software 18 30,477 49,642
Deferred income tax 19 - 6,257
Other assets 20 502,095 376,159
Intangible assets - goodwill 21 21,812 21,812
Total assets 22,645,013 20,943,933
Liabilities
Customer deposits 22 19,205,790 16,888,926
Deposits due to other banks 23 430,839 1,291,392
Borrowings 24 253,911 422,156
Deferred income tax 19 34,465 -
Current income tax payable 53,972 20,147
Other liabilities 25 323,867 297,334
Total liabilities 20,302,844 18,919,955
Capital and reserves attributable to the company’s equity holders
Share capital 26 528,308 528,308
Share premium                                                                      26 154,922 154,922
Statutory reserve 27 58,451 30,162
Other reserves 28 28,856 36,134
Retained earnings 1,129,806 885,152

1,900,343 1,634,678
Non controlling interest 441,826 389,300
Total  equity 2,342,169 2,023,978
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 22,645,013 20,943,933

The financial statements on pages 62 to 116 were approved by the board of directors’ on March 16, 2012 and were signed on its behalf by:

 ....................................................  ....................................................  ....................................................  ....................................................

Director     Director     Director                        Company Secretary

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
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At 31 December

2011 2010
Notes Shs’000 Shs’000

Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya 11 791,506 898,529
Government and other securities held to maturity 12(a) 4,956,530 3,550,635
Government and other securities available for sale 12(b) 590,811 1,837,772
Deposits and balances due from other banks 13 233,010 391,040
Amounts due from group companies 31(a) 64,540 9,112
Loans and advances to customers (net) 14 7,276,704 6,718,235
Investment in subsidiary 15(a) 164,039 164,039
Investment in associate 15(b) 31,123 31,123
Property and equipment 16(b) 194,776 219,281
Intangible assets - software 18 14,780 11,170
Deferred income tax 19 13,144 4,436
Other assets 20 299,496 276,993
Total assets 14,630,459 14,112,365
Liabilities
Customer deposits 22 12,395,095 11,590,423
Deposits due to other banks 23 289,140 350,592
Amounts due to group companies 31(b) 58,673 274,337
Borrowings 24 195,790 422,156
Current  income tax payable 27,601 13,222
Other liabilities 25 128,627 125,511
Total liabilities 13,094,926 12,776,242
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 26 528,308 528,308
Share premium                                                                        26 154,922 154,922
Statutory reserve                                                                     27 26,335 4,787
Revaluation reserves   28 (10,704) 14,781
Retained earnings 836,672 633,325
total shareholders’ equity 1,535,533 1,336,123
total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 14,630,459 14,112,365

The financial statements on pages 62 to 116 were approved by the board of directors on March 16, 2012 and were signed on its behalf by:

   ....................................................   ....................................................   ....................................................   ....................................................

  Director     Director     Director     Company Secretary

Bank Statement of Financial Position
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Share capital Share 
Premium

Retained 
earnings

Regulatory 
reserves

Other reserves Non controlling 
Interest

Total

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Year ended 31 December 2010
At start of year 528,308 154,922 632,991 65,280 19,643     464,044 1,865,188
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year - - 133,828 - - 245 134,073
Other comprehensive income: 
Available-for-sale financial assets net of tax - - - - 4,110 - 4,110
Currency translation differences - - - - 12,381 8,224 20,605
Transfer to regulatory reserves - - 35,118   (35,118)  -    - -
Reclassification of Non-controlling  interest - - 83,213 - - (83,213) -
Total other comprehensive income - - 118,331 (35,118) 16,491 (74,989) 24,715

- - 252,159 (35,118)    16,491 (74,744)     158,788
At end of year 528,308 154,922 885,152 30,162 36,134    389,300 2,023,978

Share capital Share 
Premium

Retained 
earnings

Regulatory 
reserves

Other reserves Non controlling 
Interest

Total

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Year ended 31 December 2011
At start of year 528,308 154,922 885,152 30,162 36,134    389,300 2,023,978
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year - - 272,943 - - 38,090 311,033
Other comprehensive income: 
Available-for-sale financial assets net of tax - - - - (25,485) - (25,485)
Currency translation differences - - - - 18,207 14,436 32,643
Transfer to regulatory reserves - - (28,289)   28,289 - - -
Total other comprehensive income - - (28,289) 28,289 (7,278) 14,436 7,158

- - 244,654 28,289 (7,278) 52,526 318,191
At end of year 528,308 154,922 1,129,806 58,451 28,856      441,826 2,342,169

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)
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Share capital Share Premium Retained 
earnings

Regulatory reserves Other reserves Total 

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Year ended 31 December 2010
At start of year 528,308 154,922 463,178 41,414 10,671 1,198,493
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year - - 133,520 - - 133,520
Other comprehensive income: 
Available-for-sale financial assets net of tax - - - - 4,110 4,110
Transfer from regulatory reserves - - 36,627 (36,627) - -
Total other comprehensive income - - 36,627 (36,627) 4,110 4,110

- - 170,147 (36,627) 4,110 137,630
At end of year 528,308 154,922 633,325 4,787 14,781 1,336,123

Share capital Share Premium Retained 
earnings

Regulatory reserves Other reserves Total 

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Year ended 31 December 2011
At start of year 528,308 154,922 633,325 4,787 14,781 1,336,123
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year - - 224,895 - - 224,895
Other comprehensive income: 
Available-for-sale financial assets net of tax - - - - (25,485) (25,485)
Transfer to regulatory reserves - - (21,548) 21,548 - -
Total other comprehensive income - - (21,548) 21,548 (25,485) (25,485)

- - 203,347 21,548 (25,485) 199,410
At end of year 528,308 154,922 836,672 26,335 (10,704) 1,535,533

Bank Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)
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2011 2010

Notes Shs’000 Shs’000
Cashflow from operating activities
Interest received 2,136,901 2,051,140
Interest payments (976,144) (895,289)
Net fee and commission receipts 467,035 438,007
Other income received 146,417 225,587
Recoveries from loans previously written off 216,127 111,705
Payments to employees and suppliers (1,385,593) (1,361,115)
Income tax paid (59,269) (17,793)
Cash flow from operating activities before changes
In operating assets and liabilities 545,474 552,242

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Loans and advances (1,423,626) (926,245)
Cash reserve requirements (115,458) (145,277)
Government securities maturing after 90 days after date of acquisition (1,178,919) (1,557,737)
Other assets (90,561) (4,232)
Customer deposits 2,316,864 2,049,108
Other liabilities 26,533 10,995
Net cash flow from operating activities (465,167) (573,388)

Cashflow from investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment 16 (136,076) (109,628)
Purchase of intangible assets 18 (8,230) (13,290)
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 3,490 3,331
Net cash flow generated from investing activities (140,816) (119,587)

Cashflow from financing activities
Long term debt (163,005) (74,613)
Medium term note Issued - 194,800
Net cash flow from financing activities (163,005) 120,187
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (223,514) (20,546)
Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 2,108,318 2,128,864
Cash and cash equivalent at end of the year 30 1,884,804 2,108,318

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows



FINA BANK . ANNUAL REPORT . DECEMBER 2 0 1 1 69

1. General Information
The Company is incorporated in Kenya under the Companies Act as a limited liability company, and is domiciled in Kenya. The address of its registered office is:

LR. Plot No. 209/X11/624
FINA House, Kimathi Street
P O Box 20613
Nairobi - 00200
For Kenya Companies Act purposes, the balance sheet is represented by the statement of financial position and the profit and loss account by income statement, in these financials 
statements. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.  These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless 
otherwise stated.

a. Basis of Preparation
The Group’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 
Additional information required by national regulations is included where appropriate. The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for 
available-for-sale financial assets and all derivative contracts, which have been measured at fair value.

The disclosures on risks from financial instruments are presented in the financial risk management report contained in Note 4.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires the directors to exercise judgement in the process 
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. Changes in assumptions may have a significant impact on the financial statements in the period the assumptions changed. The directors 
believe that the underlying assumptions are appropriate and that the Group’s financial statements therefore present the financial position and results fairly. The areas involving a higher 
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 3.

b. Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures

i. New and Amended Standards Adopted by the Group
The amendments to existing standards below are relevant to the Group’s operations:
Standard Title Applicable for financial year beginning on/after 
IAS 1  Presentation of financial statements 1 January 2011
IAS 24 Related party disclosures 1 January 2011
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 1 January 2011
The amendment to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’ is part of the 2010 Annual Improvements and clarifies that an entity shall present an analysis of other comprehensive 
income for each component of equity, either in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes to the financial statements. The application of this amendment has no significant 
impact as the Group was already disclosing the analysis of other comprehensive income on its statement of changes in equity.

Notes
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
b. Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures (continued)

i. New and Amended Standards Adopted by the Group (continued)
The amendment to IAS 24, ‘Related party disclosures’ clarifies and simplifies the definition of a related party and removes the requirement for government-related entities 
to disclose details of all transactions with the government and other government-related entities. The amended definition means that some entities will be required to make 
additional disclosures, e.g., an entity that is controlled by an individual that is part of the key management personnel of another entity is now required to disclose transactions 
with that second entity. Related party disclosures have increased following adoption of this amendment.

The amendments to IFRS 7, ‘Financial Instruments - Disclosures’ are part of the 2010 Annual Improvements and emphasises the interaction between quantitative and qualitative 
disclosures about the nature and extent of risks associated with financial instruments. The amendments have also removed the requirement to disclose the following;

• Maximum exposure to credit risk if the carrying amount best represents the maximum exposure to credit risk;

• Fair value of collaterals; and

• Renegotiated loans that would otherwise be past due but not impaired.

The application of the above amendment simplified financial risk disclosures made by the Group. Other amendments and interpretations to standards became mandatory for the 
year beginning 1 January 2011 but had no significant effect on the Group’s financial statements.

ii. Standards, Amendments and Interpretations to Existing Standards that are Not Yet Effective and Have Not Been Early Adopted by 
the Group
Numerous new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been issued but are not yet effective. Below is the list of new standards that are likely to 
be relevant to the Group. However, the directors are yet to assess the impact on the Group’s operations.
Standard Title Applicable for financial year beginning on/after 
IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements 1 July 2012
IFRS 9 Financial instruments 1 January 2015
IFRS 13 Fair value measurement 1 January 2013

IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements

The amendment changes the disclosure of items presented in other comprehensive income (OCI) in the statement of comprehensive income. Entities will be required to separate 
items presented in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) into two groups, based on whether or not they may be recycled to profit or loss in the future. Items that will not be recycled 
will be presented separately from items that may be recycled in the future. Entities that choose to present OCI items before tax will be required to show the amount of tax related 
to the two groups separately. 

The title used by IAS 1 for the statement of comprehensive income has changed to ‘statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income’, though IAS 1 still permits entities 
to use other titles.

Notes



FINA BANK . ANNUAL REPORT . DECEMBER 2 0 1 1 71

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
b. Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures (continued)

ii. Standards, Amendments and Interpretations to Existing Standards that are Not Yet Effective and Have Not Been Early Adopted by 
the Group (continued)
IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’ part 1: Classification and measurement and part 2: Financial liabilities and Derecognition of financial instruments

IFRS 9, part 1 was issued in November 2009 and replaces those parts of IAS 39 relating to the classification and measurement of financial assets. Key features are as follows:

 ■ Financial assets are required to be classified into two measurement categories: those to be measured subsequently at fair value, and those to be measured 
subsequently at amortised cost. The decision is to be made at initial recognition. The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing its financial 
instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument.

 ■ An instrument is subsequently measured at amortised cost only if it is a debt instrument and both the objective of the entity’s business model is to hold the asset to 
collect the contractual cash flows, and the asset’s contractual cash flows represent only payments of principal and interest (that is, it has only ‘basic loan features’). All 
other debt instruments are to be measured at fair value through profit or loss.

 ■ All equity instruments are to be measured subsequently at fair value. Equity instruments that are held for trading will be measured at fair value through profit or loss. For 
all other equity investments, an irrevocable election can be made at initial recognition, to recognise unrealised and realised fair value gains and losses through other 
comprehensive income rather than profit or loss. There is to be no recycling of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss. This election may be made on an instrument-
by-instrument basis. Dividends are to be presented in profit or loss, as long as they represent a return on investment.

While adoption of IFRS 9 is mandatory from 1 January 2015, earlier adoption is permitted. The Bank is considering the implications of the Standard, the impact on the Bank and 
the timing of its adoption by the Bank.

IFRS 9, part 2 was issued in October 2010 and includes guidance on financial liabilities and derecognition of financial instruments.  The accounting and presentation of financial 
liabilities and for derecognising financial instruments has been relocated from IAS 39, ‘Financial instruments: Recognition and Measurement’, without change except for financial 
liabilities that are designated at fair value through profit or loss.

Under the new standard, entities with financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss recognise changes in the liability’s credit risk directly in other comprehensive income.  
There is no subsequent recycling of the amounts in other comprehensive income to profit or loss, but accumulated gains or losses may be transferred within equity.

IFRS 13, ‘Fair value measurement’

IFRS 13 explains how to measure fair value and aims to enhance fair value disclosures; it does not say when to measure fair value or require additional fair value measurements. 
A fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place in the principal market for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a 
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal market is the market with the greatest volume and level of activity for the asset or liability that can be accessed by the entity. The guidance includes enhanced 
disclosure requirements that could result in significantly more work for the Bank. The requirements are similar to IFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments: Disclosures’ but apply to all 
assets and liabilities measured at fair value, not just financial ones.

Notes (continued)
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
c. Consolidation 

i. Subsidiaries  
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the 
voting rights.  The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another 
entity.  Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.  They are de-consolidated from the date the control ceases.  

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of 
the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting 
from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in 
a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group categorizes any non-controlling interest 
in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost is adjusted to reflect changes in consideration arising from contingent consideration amendments. 
Cost also includes direct attributable costs of investment.

The excess of the consideration transferred the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value over any previous equity interest in the 
acquiree over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary 
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is categorizes directly in profit or loss.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Group. 

ii. Associates
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. 
Investments in associates are accounted for by the equity method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost.  

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the income statement, and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves of the 
associate is recognised in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses 
in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred 
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated 
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency 
with the policies adopted by the Group.

In the separate statement of the financial position of the Bank, subsidiaries and associates are stated at cost less any provision for impairment.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
d. Functional Currency and Translation of Foreign Currencies

i. Functional and Presentation Currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the 
functional currency’). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Kenya Shillings, which is the Bank’s functional and presentation currency.

ii. Transactions and Balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-
measured.

Monetary items denominated in foreign currency are translated with the closing rate as at the reporting date. If several exchange rates are available, the forward rate is used at 
which the future cash flows represented by the transaction or balance could have been settled if those cash flows had occurred. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost 
denominated in a foreign currency are translated with the exchange rate as at the date of initial recognition; non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured at fair 
value are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of foreign currency transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are categorize in the income statement. 

iii. Consolidation of Group Entities
The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the 
presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

i. assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

ii. income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the 
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and

iii. all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.
On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities are taken to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is sold, such 
exchange differences are recognized in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

e. Interest Income and Expense 
Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments, except for those classified as held for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss, are recognised 
within ‘interest income’ or ‘interest expense’ in the income statement using the effective interest method.

Notes (continued)
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
e. Interest Income and Expense (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the 
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when 
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.  The calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that 
are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an impairment loss, interest income is recognised using the rate of interest that was used 
to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

f. Fees and Commission Income and Expense
Fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been provided.  Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down are deferred 
(together with related direct costs) and recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loan.

g. Financial Assets
The Group classifies its financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; loans, advances and receivables, held-to-maturity financial assets 
and available-for-sale financial assets.  Management determines the appropriate classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

i. Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 
This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception.  A financial asset is classified as held 
for trading if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term.  Derivatives are also categorized as held for trading.  Financial assets are designated at fair value 
through profit or loss when:

 ■ doing so significantly reduces or eliminates a measurement inconsistency; or

 ■ they form part of a group of financial assets that is managed and evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk management or investment 
strategy and reported to key management personnel on that basis.

ii. Loans, Advances and Receivables 
Loans, advances and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market, other than: (a) those classified 
as held for trading and those that the Group on initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit and loss; (b) those that the Group upon initial recognition designates 
as available-for-sale; or (c) those for which the holder may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than because of credit deterioration.

iii. Held-to-maturity
Held-to-maturity financial assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the Group’s management has the positive 
intention and ability to hold to maturity.

Notes (continued)
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
g. Financial Assets (continued)

iv. Available-for-sale Financial Assets 
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-current 
assets unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity and available-for-sale are categorize on trade-date – the date on which the 
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Financial assets are initially categorize at fair value plus, for all financial assets except those carried at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.  Financial assets are 
categorized when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or where the Bank has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 

Loans, advances and receivables and held-to-maturity financial assets are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses arising from changes 
in the fair value of ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ are included in the income statement in the period in which they arise. 

Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of non-monetary securities classified as available-for-sale are recognised in other comprehensive income.  
When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments are included in the income statement as gains and losses from 
investment securities.

h. Impairment of Financial Assets
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.   A financial asset or a group of financial 
assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after initial recognition of the asset 
(a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  

The criteria that the Group uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include:

 ■ Delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest;

 ■ Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower (for example, equity ratio, net income percentage of sales);

 ■ Breach of loan covenants or conditions; 

 ■ Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings;

 ■ Deterioration of the borrower’s competitive position;

 ■ Deterioration in the value of collateral; and

 ■ Downgrading below investment grade level.

The estimated period between losses occurring and its identification is determined by management for each identified portfolio. In general, the periods used vary between one 
month and three months.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
h. Impairment of Financial Assets (continued)

i. Assets Carried at Amortised Cost
The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for 
financial assets that are not individually significant.  If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether 
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.  Assets that are 
individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be categorized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial 
instrument’s original effective interest rate.  The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is categorized in 
the profit and loss account.  If a loan or held-to-maturity asset has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest 
rate determined under the contract.  As a practical expedient, the Bank may measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.

The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and 
selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of similar credit risk characteristics (i.e. on the basis of the Group’s grading 
process that considers asset type, industry, geographical location, collateral type, past-due status and other relevant factors).  Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation 
of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets in the group 
and historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group.  Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data 
to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical 
period that do not exist currently.

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision for loan impairment.  Such loans are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed 
and the amount of the loss has been determined.  Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off decrease the amount of the provision for loan impairment in the 
income statement. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment (such as an 
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised 
in the income statement.

ii. Renegotiated Loans
Loans that are either subject to collective impairment assessment or individually significant and whose terms have been renegotiated are no longer considered to be past due 
but are treated as new loans. In subsequent years, the renegotiated terms apply in determining whether the asset is considered to be past due.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
i. Property and Equipment

All categories of property and equipment are initially recorded at cost.  Buildings and freehold land are subsequently shown at fair value, based on periodic, but at least triennial, valuations 
by external independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation for buildings.  All other property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation.  Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or categorized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with 
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the profit and loss account during the financial period 
in which they are incurred.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation are credited to a revaluation surplus reserve in equity.  Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are charged 
against the revaluation surplus; all other decreases are charged to the profit and loss account.

Freehold land is not depreciated.  Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the reducing balance method to allocate their cost or revalued amounts less their residual values over 
their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings  Over remaining period of the land lease

Fixtures, fittings and equipment 12.5%

Computer hardware and software    40%

Motor vehicles 25%
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its estimated 
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (see 2(k) below). 

Gains and losses on disposal of property and equipment are determined by reference to their carrying amount and are included in the income statement.  On disposal of revalued assets, 
amounts in the revaluation surplus relating to that asset are transferred to retained earnings.

j. Intangible Assets

i. Goodwill 
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary/associate at the date 
of acquisition.  Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets.  Goodwill on acquisitions of associates is included in investments in associates.  Goodwill 
is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.  Gains and losses on disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill 
relating to the entity sold. 

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing.  Each of those cash-generating units represents the Group’s investment in each country of 
operation by each reporting segment (Note 21).
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
j. Intangible Assets (continued)

ii. Computer Software
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.  These costs are amortised over their 
estimated useful lives (three to five years).

k. Impairment of Non-Financial Assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets 
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are 
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

l. Income Tax
Income tax expense is the aggregate of the charge to the income statement in respect of current income tax and deferred income tax.  Tax is categorized in the income statement unless 
it relates to items categorized directly in equity, in which case it is also categorized directly in equity.

Current income tax is the amount of income tax payable on the taxable profit for the year determined in accordance with the relevant tax legislation.

Deferred income tax is categorized, using the liability method, for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying values for financial 
reporting purposes. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination 
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.  Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is categorised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are categorized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which temporary differences can be categorised.

m. Accounting for Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases.  All other leases are classified as finance leases.

i. With the Group as Lessee
Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

ii. With the Group as Lessor
When assets are leased out under a finance lease, the present value of the lease payments is categorized as a receivable.  The difference between the gross receivable and the 
present value of the receivable is categorized as unearned finance income.  Lease income is categorized over the term of the lease using the net investment method (before 
income tax), which reflects a constant periodic rate of return.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
n. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, including: 
cash and non-restricted balances with the Central Banks, Treasury and other eligible bills, and amounts due from other banks.  Cash and cash equivalents excludes the cash reserve 
requirement held with the Central Banks.

o. Employee Benefits

i. Retirement Benefit Obligations
The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefit scheme for its employees.  The Group and all its employees also contribute to the appropriate National Social Security 
Fund, which are defined contribution schemes.  A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group 
has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in 
the current and prior periods

The assets of all schemes are held in separate trustee administered funds, which are funded by contributions from both the Group and employees.  

The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution schemes are charged to the income statement in the year in which they fall due.

ii. Other Entitlements
Employee entitlements to long service awards are categorized when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for such entitlements as a result of 
services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

The estimated monetary liability for employees’ accrued annual leave entitlement at the balance sheet date is categorize as an expense accrual.

p. Derivative Financial Instruments
Derivatives, which comprise solely forward foreign exchange contracts, are initially categorized at fair value on the date the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
measured at fair value.  The fair value is determined using forward exchange market rates at the balance sheet date or appropriate pricing models.  The derivatives do not qualify for hedge 
accounting.  Changes in the fair value of derivatives are categorized immediately in the income statement.

q. Borrowings
Borrowings are categorized initially at fair value, being their issue proceeds (fair value of consideration received) net of transaction costs incurred.  Borrowings are subsequently stated at 
amortised cost; any difference between proceeds net of transaction costs and the redemption value is categorized in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the 
effective interest method.

r. Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the categorized amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis, or categorise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
s. Share Capital

Ordinary shares are classified as ‘share capital’ in equity. Any premium received over and above the par value of the shares is classified as ‘share premium’ in equity.

t. Dividends Payable
Dividends on ordinary shares are charged to equity in the period in which they are declared.  Proposed dividends are shown as a separate component of equity until declared.

u. Acceptances and Letters of Credit
Acceptances and letters of credit are accounted for as off-balance sheet transactions and disclosed as contingent liabilities.

3. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
The Group’s financial statements and its financial result are influenced by accounting policies, assumptions, estimates and management judgement, which necessarily have to be made 
in the course of preparation of the financial statements. 

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. All estimates and assumptions required in conformity 
with IFRS are best estimates undertaken in accordance with the applicable standard. Estimates and judgements are evaluated on a continuous basis, and are based on past experience 
and other factors, including expectations with regard to future events. 

Accounting policies and management’s judgements for certain items are especially critical for the Group’s results and financial situation due to their materiality.

a. Impairment Losses on Loans and Advances 
The Group reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment at least on a quarterly basis. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the income statement, the 
group makes judgements as to whether there is any observable data indicating an impairment trigger followed by measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio 
of loans before the decrease can be identified with that portfolio. This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment status of 
borrowers in a group, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the group. Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for 
assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used 
for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.  

b. Impairment of Available-For-Sale Equity Investments 
The Group determines that available-for-sale equity investments are impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost. This determination 
of what is significant or prolonged requires judgement. In making this judgement, the group evaluates among other factors, the volatility in share price. In addition, objective evidence of 
impairment may be deterioration in the financial health of the investee, industry and sector performance, changes in technology, and operational and financing cash flows.
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3. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies (continued)
c. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of financial instruments where no active market exists or where quoted prices are not otherwise available are determined by using valuation techniques. In these cases, the 
fair values are estimated from observable data in respect of similar financial instruments or using models. Where market observable inputs are not available, they are estimated based 
on appropriate assumptions. Where valuation techniques (for example, models) are used to determine fair values, they are validated and periodically reviewed by qualified personnel 
independent of those that sourced them. All models are certified before they are used, and models are calibrated to ensure that outputs reflect actual data and comparative market prices. 
To the extent practical, models use only observable data; however, areas such as credit risk (both own credit risk and counterparty risk), volatilities and correlations require management 
to make estimates.

d. Held-to-Maturity Investments
In accordance with IAS 39 guidance, the group classifies some non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity as held to maturity. This classification 
requires significant judgement. In making this judgement, the group evaluates its intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity. If the group were to fail to keep these 
investments to maturity other than for the specific circumstances – for example, selling an insignificant amount close to maturity – the group is required to reclassify the entire category as 
available for sale. Accordingly, the investments would be measured at fair value instead of amortised cost. If all held-to-maturity investments were to be so reclassified, the carrying value 
would reduce by Shs 800 million (2010: increase by Shs 43million), with a corresponding entry in the fair value reserve in shareholders’ equity.

e. Impairment of Goodwill 
The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2(j). The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units 
have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. The carrying amount of the goodwill and the key assumptions made are set out in Note 21. 

f. Income Taxes 
The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining the Group’s provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and 
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on 
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the 
income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

4. Financial Risk Management 
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and 
liquidity risk. Those activities involve the analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. Taking risk is core to the Group’s business, and 
the financial risks are an inevitable consequence of being in business. The Group’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and categorise potential 
adverse effects on its financial performance.
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
Financial risk management is carried out by the Treasury and Credit department under policies approved by the Board of Directors.  Treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial 
risks in close cooperation with the operating units. The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas such as foreign 
exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative and non-derivative financial instruments.

a. Credit Risk 
The Group takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will cause a financial loss to the Group by failing to pay amounts in full when due. Credit risk is the most 
important risk for the Group’s business: management therefore carefully manages the exposure to credit risk. Credit exposures arise principally in lending and investment activities. There 
is also credit risk in off-balance sheet financial instruments, such as loan commitments. Credit risk management and control is categorized in the credit risk management department, 
which reports regularly to the Board Credit Committee.

The Group structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and to industry segments. 
Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis and subject to annual or more frequent review.  Limits on the level of credit risk by product, industry sector and by country are approved 
quarterly by the Board of Directors. 

The exposure to any one borrower including banks is further restricted by sub-limits covering on- and off-balance sheet exposures and daily delivery risk limits in relation to trading items 
such as forward foreign exchange contracts. Actual exposures against limits are monitored daily. 

Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing lending 
limits where appropriate. Exposure to credit risk is also managed in part by obtaining collateral and corporate and personal guarantees, but a significant portion is personal lending where 
no such facilities can be obtained.

Credit Related Commitments
The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as required.  Guarantees and standby letters of credit, which represent irrevocable 
assurances that the Bank will make payments in the event that a customer cannot meet its obligations to third parties, carry the same credit risk as loans.  Documentary and commercial 
letters of credit, which are written undertakings by the Bank on behalf of a customer categorized a third party to draw drafts on the Bank up to a stipulated amount under specific terms 
and conditions, are categorizations by the underlying shipments of goods to which they relate and therefore carry less risk than a direct borrowing.

Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of categorizations to extend credit in the form of loans, guarantees or letters of credit.  With respect to credit risk on commitments 
to extend credit, the Group is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments.  However, the likely amount of loss is less than the total unused commitments, 
as most commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards.  The Group monitors the term to maturity of credit commitments because 
longer-term commitments generally have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-term commitments.
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
a. Credit Risk (continued)

Maximum Exposure to Credit Risk Before Collateral Held

Group Bank

2011 2010 2011 2010
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Balances with Central Banks 1,051,400 843,842 612,552 662,829
Government and other securities held to maturity 6,566,183 5,140,348 4,956,530 3,550,635
Government and other securities available for sale 590,811 1,837,772 590,811 1,837,772
Deposits and balances due from other banks 573,400 852,713 233,010 391,040
Loans and advances to customers 11,835,690 10,165,285 7,276,704 6,718,235
Other assets 447,959 315,166 205,386 219,364
Credit risk exposures relating to off-balance sheet items:
-     Acceptances and letters of credit 416,525 398,937 324,296 318,652
-     Guarantee and performance bonds 913,685 1,452,491 696,623 812,202
-     Commitments to lend 2,535,118 971,869 646,944 428,577

24,930,771 21,978,423 15,542,856 14,939,306

The above table represents a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Bank at 31 December 2011 and 2010, without taking account of any collateral held or other credit 
enhancements attached. For on-balance sheet assets, the exposures set out above are based on carrying amounts as reported in the statement of financial position.

As shown above, 48% of the total maximum exposure of the Group is derived from loans and advances to banks and customers (2010: 46%). 29% represents investments in debt 
securities (2010: 32%).

Management is confident on its ability to continue to control and sustain minimal exposure of credit risk to the Group resulting from both its loan and advances portfolio and debt securities 
based on the following:

 ■ 85% of the loans and advances portfolio are neither past due nor impaired

 ■ 78% of the loans and advances portfolio are backed by collateral

 ■ 91% of the investments in debt securities are government securities.
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
a. Credit Risk (continued)

Loans and Advances are Categorized as Follows:

Group Bank

2011 2010 2011 2010
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Neither past due nor impaired 10,435,590   8,345,477 6,615,404 5,769,144
Past due but not impaired 895,208 860,773 403,407 381,195
Impaired 918,345 1,619,268 603,287 1,072,386
Gross 12,249,143 10,825,518 7,622,098 7,222,725
Less: allowance for impairment (Note 14) 413,454 660,233 345,394 504,491
Net 11,835,689 10,165,285 7,276,704 6,718,234

No other financial assets are either past due or impaired.

Loans and advances neither past due nor impaired

The credit quality of the portfolio of loans and advances that were neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to the internal rating system adopted by the Group:

Group Bank

2011 2010 2011 2010
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Standard 10,435,590 8,345,477 6,615,404 5,769,144

Notes (continued)
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
a. Credit Risk (continued)

Loans and Advances Past Due but Not Impaired

Loans and advances less than 90 days past due are not considered impaired, unless other information is available to indicate the contrary. The gross amounts of loans and advances that 
were past due but not impaired were as follows:

Group Bank

2011 2010 2011 2010

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Past due up to 30 days 743,999 297,008 365,154 33,240
Past due 31 – 60 days 101,212 183,344 34,604 63,450
Past due 61 – 90 days 49,997 380,421 3,649 284,505
Total 895,208 860,773 403,407 381,195

Loans and Advances Individually Impaired

Of the total gross amount of impaired loans, the following amounts have been individually assessed:

Group Bank

2011 2010 2011 2010
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Individually assessed impaired loans and advances
 - corporate 690,426 1,397,521 557,192 993,604
 - retail 227,919 221,747 46,095 78,782

918,345 1,619,268 603,287 1,072,386
Fair value of collateral held 720,205 741,574 375,708 433,319

Notes (continued)
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
b. Concentration of Risk

Economic sector risk concentrations within the customer loan and  deposit portfolios were as follows:

(i) Loans and Advances Group Bank

2011 2010 2011 2010
% % % %

Manufacturing 19 19 25 26
Wholesale and retail trade 38 36 29 32
Transport and communications 5 7 5 5
Business services 5 1 3 1
Agricultural 5 4 7 6
Individuals 7 6 2 2
Other 21 27 29 28

100 100 100 100
(ii) Customer Deposits Group Bank

2011 2010 2011 2010
% % % %

Private enterprises 43 41 32 31
Non-profit making organization and individuals                                             48                     47 64 61
Others 9 12 4 8

100 100 100 100
(iii) Off-balance Sheet Items Group Bank

2011 2010 2011 2010
% % % %

Manufacturing 33 28 28 23
Wholesale, retail trade and hotels 24 30 34 40
Others 43 42 38 37

100 100 100 100

Notes (continued)
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
c. Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its financial liabilities as they fall due and to replace funds when they are withdrawn.

The Group is exposed to daily calls on its available cash resources from overnight deposits, current accounts, maturing deposits, and calls on cash settled contingencies. The Group does 
not maintain cash resources to meet all of these needs as experience shows that a minimum level of reinvestment of maturing funds can be predicted with a high level of certainty. The 
regulatory bodies of the respective countries require that the Group maintain a cash reserve ratio. In addition, the Board sets limits on the minimum proportion of maturing funds available 
to meet such calls and on the minimum level of inter-bank and other borrowing facilities that should be in place to cover withdrawals at unexpected levels of demand. The Treasury 
department monitors liquidity ratios on a daily basis.

The table below presents the undiscounted cash flows payable by the Group under financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities at the balance sheet date and receivable from 
financial assets by expected maturity dates.  All figures are in thousands of Kenya Shillings.

i. Group

Upto 1 1-3 3-12 1-5 Over
At December 2011 month months months years 5 years Total

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Liabilities
Customer deposits 7,648,145 7,227,625 4,317,924 174,832 143,181 19,511,707
Deposits and balances due to banking institutions 494,854 - - - - 494,854
Borrowings 1,580 3,007 14,016 132,534 212,085 363,222
Other liabilities 327,024 2,197 38,694             -                    -   367,915
Total financial liabilities (contractual maturity dates) 8,471,603 7,232,829 4,370,634 307,366 355,266 20,737,698
Assets
Cash and balances with Central Banks 1,548,778 194,483 130,910 8,788                  -   1,882,959
Government and other Securities held 987,890 171,047 871,373 3,521,796 1,604,697 7,156,803
Deposits and balances due from banking institutions 527,786                  -                  -             -                    -   527,786
Loans and advances to customers 3,900,436 1,961,653 1,439,508 6,013,058 635,339 13,949,994
Other financial assets 440,666                  - 91,367             -                    -   532,033
Total financial assets (expected maturity dates) 7,405,556 2,327,183 2,533,158 9,543,642 2,240,036 24,049,575
Liquidity Gap 1,066,047 4,905,646 1,837,476 (9,236,276) (1,884,770) (3,311,877)

Notes (continued)
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
c. Liquidity Risk (continued)

i. Group

Upto 1 1-3 3-12 1-5 Over
At December 2010 month months months years 5 years Total

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Liabilities
Customer deposits 5,334,987   6,760,380 4,250,927 1,958,069                  -   18,304,363
Deposits and balances due to banking institutions 884,909 312,041 96,649             -                    -   1,293,599
Borrowings              986   1,845 37,805 187,733 197,305 425,674
Other liabilities                 147,074   71,577 78,683             -                    -   297,334
Total financial liabilities (contractual maturity dates)                 6,367,956   7,145,843 4,464,064 2,145,802 197,305 20,320,970
Assets
Cash and balances with Central Banks                1,433,322   259,581 162,745 59,796                  -   1,915,444
Government and other Securities held 753,584 758,175 1,019,480 2,590,720 1,948,486 7,070,445
Deposits and balances due from banking institutions 852,713             -                    -               -                    -   852,713
Loans and advances to customers 3,578,938 1,078,621 1,079,123 4,245,225 1,276,522 11,258,429
Other financial assets 290,643 66,372 19,144             -                    -   376,159
Total financial assets (expected maturity dates) 6,909,200   2,162,749 2,280,492 6,695,741 3,225,008 21,473,190
Liquidity Gap (541,244)   4,983,094 2,183,572 (4,549,939) (3,027,703) (1,152,220)

Notes (continued)
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
c. Liquidity Risk (continued)

ii. Bank

Upto 1 1-3 3-12 1-5 over
At December 2011 Month months months Years 5 years Total

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Liabilities
Customer deposits 6,166,031 3,744,754 2,615,394 174,832 - 12,701,011
Deposits and balances due to banking institutions 347,288 - - - - 347,288
Amounts due to group companies - - - - - -
Borrowings 1,580 3,007 14,016 74,413 212,085 305,101
Other liabilities 173,146 - - - - 173,146
Total financial liabilities (contractual maturity dates) 6,688,045 3,747,761 2,629,410 249,245 212,085 13,526,546

Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya 457,325 194,483 130,910 8,788 - 791,506
Government and other securities held 99,804 100,000 648,000 3,094,650 1,604,697 5,547,151
Deposits and balances due from banking institutions 285,238 - - - - 285,238
Amounts due from group companies 7,545 - - - - 7,545
Loans and advances to customers 3,152,083 478,372 918,337 4,431,558 411,676 9,392,026
Other assets 337,410 - - - - 337,410
Total financial assets (expected maturity dates) 4,339,405 772,855 1,697,247 7,534,996 2,016,373 16,360,,876
Liquidity Gap 2,348,640 2,974,906 932,163 (7,285,751) (1,804,288) (2,834,330)

Notes (continued)
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
c. Liquidity Risk (continued)

ii. Bank

Upto 1 1-3 3-12 1-5 over
At December 2010 Month months months Years 5 years Total

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Liabilities
Customer deposits 4,097,761 4,145,743 2,804,290 1,958,070 - 13,005,864
Deposits and balances due to banking institutions 627,136 - - - - 627,136
Amounts due to group companies - - - - - -
Borrowings 986 1,845 37,805 187,733 197,305 425,674
Other liabilities 125,511 - - - - 125,511
Total financial liabilities (contractual maturity dates) 4,851,394 4,147,588 2,842,095 2,145,803 197,305 14,184,185
Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya 416,407 259,581 162,754 59,787 - 898,529
Government and other securities held 51,231 214,050 791,200 2,455,050 1,948,486 5,460,017
Deposits and balances due from banking institutions 391,040 - - - - 391,040
Amounts due from group companies 9,112 - - - - 9,112
Loans and advances to customers 3,072,605 211,179 646,569 2,757,372 1,123,654 7,811,379
Other assets 276,993 - - - - 276,993
Total financial assets (expected maturity dates) 4,217,388 684,810 1,600,523 5,272,209 3,072,140 14,847,070
Liquidity Gap 634,006 3,462,778 1,241,572 (3,126,406) (2,874,835) (662,885)

d. Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, which include currency exchange rates and interest rates, will affect the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument. 
Market risk arises from open positions in interest rates and foreign currencies, both of which are exposed to general and specific market movements and changes in the level of volatility. 
The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable limits, while the return on risk. Overall responsibility for managing market risk 
rests with the Board Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO). The Treasury department is responsible for the development of detailed risk management policies (subject to review and 
approval by ALCO) and for the day to day implementation of those policies.

Notes (continued)
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
d. Market Risk (continued)

i. Currency Risk
The Group takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. The Board sets limits on the 
level of exposure by currency and in total for both overnight and intra-day positions, which are monitored daily. 

The table below summarises the Group’s and the Company’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk as at 31 December 2011. Included in the table are the Group’s and 
the Company’s financial instruments categorized by currency. All figures are in thousands of Kenya Shillings.

Group

At 31 December 2011 USD GBP EURO RWF Other Total
Assets
Cash and balances with Central Banks 581,968 17,551 45,254 18 - 644,791
Deposit and balances due from banking institutions 248,173 20,815 174,176 2,244 5,792 451,200
Loans and advances to customers 1,890,315 75,761 21,286 111 - 1,987,473
Other assets 41,941 766 41,596 - - 84,303
Total assets 2,762,397 114,893 282,312 2,373 5,792 3,167,767
Liabilities
Customer deposits 2,204,159 57,198 278,690 - 4,346 2,544,393
Deposits and balances due to banking institutions 221,605 20,740 - - - 242,345
Other liabilities 32,403 13 287 2,295 - 34,998
Total liabilities 2,458,167 77,951 278,977 2,295 4,346 2,821,736
Net on-balance sheet position 304,230 36,942 3,335 78 1,446 346,031
Net off-balance sheet position (814,857) 95,637 76,570 (587) - 986,477
Overall open position (510,628) 132,579 79,905 859 78 1,332,506
At 31 December 2010
Total assets 3,101,638 114,807 255,321 3,783,504 52,292 7,307,562
Total liabilities 2,711,911 371,895 395,888 4,428,419 51,778 7,959,891
Net on-balance sheet position 389,727 (257,088) (140,567) (644,915) 514 (652,329)
Net off-balance sheet position (443,436) 58,353 (40,773) - - (425,856)
Overall open position (53,709) (198,735) (181,340) (644,915) 514 (1,078,185)

Notes (continued)
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
i. Currency Risk (continued)
Bank

At 31 December 2011 USD GBP EURO Other Total
Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya 29,759 11,349 11,761 - 52,869
Deposit and balances due from banking institutions 216,095 6,996 23,310 5,792 252,193
Loans and advances to customers 1,511,825 75,761 21,226 - 1,608,812
Total assets 1,757,679 94,106 56,297 5,792 1,913,874
Liabilities
Customer deposits 1,152,960 42,246 51,677 4,346 1,251,229
Deposits and balances due to banking institution 221,605 20,740 - - 242,345
Total liabilities 1,374,565 62,986 51,677 4,346 1,493,574
Net on-balance sheet position 383,114 31,120 4,620 1,446 420,300
Net off-balance sheet position 814,857 31,120 76,570 (587) 986,477
Overall open position 1,197,971 126,757 81,190 859 1,406,777
At 31 December 2010
Total assets 2,031,231 107,172 81,942 52,292 2,272,637
Total liabilities 1,585,148 56,648 119,383 51,778 1,812,957
Net on-balance sheet position 446,083 50,524 (37,441) 514 459,680
Net off-balance sheet position (443,436) 58,353 (40,773) - (425,856)
Overall open position 2,647 108,877 (78,214) 514 33,824

At 31 December 2011, if the Shilling had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the US dollar with all other variables held constant, consolidated post tax profit for the year would have 
been Shs 265 thousand (2010: Shs  5 million ) higher/lower, mainly as a result of US dollar loans and advances and bank balances.

ii. Interest Rate Risk
The Group takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on both its fair value and cash flow risks.  Interest margins may increase 
as a result of such changes but may reduce or create losses in the event that unexpected movements arise.  The Board of Directors sets limits on the level of mismatch of interest 
rate repricing that may be undertaken, which is monitored daily.

The table below summarises the Group’s exposure to interest rate risks.  Included in the table are the assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of 
contractual repricing or maturity dates.  The Group does not bear any interest rate risk on off balance sheet items.  All figures are in thousands of Kenya Shillings.

Notes (continued)
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
ii. Interest Rate Risk (continued)
a. Group

At 31 December  2011 Upto 1 month 1-3 months 3-12 months over 1 year Non- interest 
bearing

Total

Assets
Cash and balances with Central Banks - - - - 1,882,958 1,882,958
Government and Other Securities held to maturity 888,086 71,047 843,373 4,704,857 58,819 6,566,182
Government and Other Securities available for sale 147,689 100,000 28,000 315,122 - 590,811
Deposit and balances due from banking institutions 530,990 - - - 42,410 573,400
Loans and advances to customers 2,242,798 2,567,308 4,708,914 1,934,303 383,088 11,835,691
Other financial assets - - - - 502,094 502,094
Total financial assets 3,809,563 2,738,355 5,579,567 6,954,282 2,869,369 21,951,136
Liabilities
Customer deposits 2,957,558 5,709,076 6,292,645 305,905 3,940,607 19,205,791
Deposits and balances due to banking institutions 430,839 - - - - 430,839
Borrowings - - - 252,921 990 253,911
Other financial liabilities - - - - 323,867 323,867
Total financial liabilities 3,388,397 5,709,076 6,292,645 558,826 4,265,464 20,214,408
Interest sensitivity gap 421,167 (2,970,021) (713,077) 6,395,456 (1,396,096) 1,736,728
At 31 December 2010
Total financial assets 3,894,843 2,707,563 1,757,834 9,440,118 2,487,364 20,287,722
Total financial liabilities 4,100,204 6,215,753 4,171,985 1,066,806 3,345,060 18,899,808

Total interest repricing gap (205,361) (3,508,190) (2,414,150) 8,373,312 (857,696) 1,387,914

Notes (continued)
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
ii. Interest Rate Risk (continued)
b. Bank

As 31 December  2011 Upto 1 month 1-3 months 3-12 months over 1 year Non- interest 
bearing

Total

Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya - - - - 791,506 791,506
Government and other Securities held to maturity - - 620,000 4,277,711 58,819 4,956,530
Government and other Securities available for sale 147,689 100,000 28,000 315,122 - 590,811
Deposit and balances due from banking institutions 233,010 - - - - 233,010
Amounts due from group companies 64,540 - - - - 64,540
Loans and advances to customers 1,493,426 1,084,027 4,187,024 129,140 383,088 7,276,705
Other financial assets - - - - 299,496 299,496
Total financial assets 1,938,665 1,184,027 4,835,024 4,721,973 1,532,909 14,212,598
Liabilities 
Customer deposits 2,711,671 4,704,523 4,642,875 162,724 173,301 12,395,094
Deposits and balances due to banking institutions 289,140 - - - - 289,140
Amounts due to group companies 58,673 - - - - 58,673
Other financial liabilities - - - - 128,627 128,627
Borrowings - - - 194,800 990 195,790
Total financial liabilities 3,059,484 4,704,523 4,642,875 357,524 302,918 13,067,324
Interest sensitivity gap (1,120,819) (3,520,496) 192,419 4,364,449 1,229,991 1,145,274
At 31 December 2010
Total assets 2,481,296 1,266,454 1,065,491 7,684,441 1,184,634 13,682,316
Total liabilities 3,595,045 5,201,886 2,773,772 1,048,802 143,515 12,763,020
Total interest repricing gap (1,113,479) (3,935,432) (1,708,281) (6,635,639) 1,041,119 919,296

The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and liabilities is fundamental to the management of the Group.  It is unusual for banks ever to be 
completely matched since business transacted is often of uncertain terms and of different types.  An unmatched position potentially enhances profitability, but can also increase the risk 
of losses.

The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-bearing liabilities as they mature, are important factors in assessing the liquidity of the 
Group and its exposure to changes in interest rates and exchange rates.

The Group has various financial assets and liabilities at variable rates, which expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group regularly monitors financing options available to 
ensure optimum interest rates are obtained. At 31 December 2011, an increase/decrease of 75 basis points would have resulted in an decrease/increase in consolidated post tax profit 
of Shs 25 million (2010: Shs 46 million), mainly as a result of higher/lower interest charges on variable rate borrowings.

Notes (continued)
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
e. Fair Valuesof Financial Assets and Liabilities

The fair value of held-to-maturity investment securities for the Group as at 31 December 2011 is estimated at Shs 5,722 million (2010: Shs 5,373 million) compared to their carrying value 
of Shs 6,522 million (2010: Shs 5,140 million). The fair values of the Bank’s other financial assets and liabilities approximate the respective carrying amounts, due to the generally short 
periods to contractual repricing or maturity dates as set out above.  Fair values are based on discounted cash flows using a discount rate based upon the borrowing rate that the directors 
expect would be available to the Group at the balance sheet date.  

Fair Value Estimation
The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value by valuation method. The different levels have defined as follows:

 ■ Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

 ■ Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or  liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) 
(level 2).

 ■ Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is,  unobservable inputs) (level 3).

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

31 December 2011
Assets
Available-for-sale financial assets - 590,811 -
31 December 2010
Assets
Available-for-sale financial assets - 1,837,772 -

f. Capital Management
 The Group’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the balance sheets, are:

 ■ to comply with the capital requirements set by the Central Bank of Kenya;

 ■ to safeguard the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders;

 ■ to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business. 

Capital adequacy and use of regulatory capital are monitored regularly by management, employing techniques based on the guidelines developed by the Basel Committee, as implemented 
by the Central Bank of Kenya for supervisory purposes. The required information is filed with the Central Bank of Kenya on a monthly basis. 

The Central Bank of Kenya requires each bank to: (a) hold the minimum level of regulatory capital of Shs 500 million; (b) maintain a ratio of total regulatory capital to the risk-weighted 
assets plus risk-weighted off-balance sheet assets (the ‘Basel ratio’) at or above the required minimum of 8%; (c) maintain core capital of not less than 8% of total deposit liabilities; and 
(d) maintain total capital of not less than 12% of risk-weighted assets plus risk-weighted off-balance sheet items. 

Notes (continued)
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
f. Capital Management (continued)

The bank’s total regulatory capital is divided into two tiers:

 ■ Tier 1 capital (core capital): share capital, share premium, plus retained earnings.

 ■ Tier 2 capital (supplementary capital): 25% (subject to prior approval) of revaluation reserves, subordinated debt not exceeding 50% of Tier 1 capital and hybrid capital 
instruments.  Qualifying Tier 2 capital is limited to 100% of Tier 1 capital.

The risk weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of four risk weights classified according to the nature of – and reflecting an estimate of the credit risk associated with – 
each asset and counterparty. A similar treatment is adopted for off-balance sheet exposure, with some adjustments to reflect the more contingent nature of the potential losses.

 The table below summarises the composition of regulatory capital and the ratios of the Group at 31 December:

2011 2010
Shs’000 Shs’000

Tier 1 capital  1,324,740 1,121,393

Tier 1 + Tier 2 capital  1,545,875 1,320,980

Risk-weighted assets
On-balance sheet 7,963,021   7,573,178
Off-balance sheet 169,509    169,843
Total risk-weighted assets 8,132,530   7,743,021 
Basel ratio
Tier 1 (CBK minimum – 8%) 16.29% 14.48%
Tier 1 + Tier 2 (CBK minimum – 12%) 19.02% 17.06%

5. Interest Income
Group

2011 2010
Shs’000 Shs’000

Loans and advances                                                                                     1,718,903 1,525,369
Government and other securities 461,907 488,877
Cash and short term funds 97,312 46,077
Other 34,579 40,329

2,312,701 2,100,652

Notes (continued)
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6. Interest Expense
Group

2011 2010
Shs’000 Shs’000

Customer deposits 909,321 847,820
Deposits by banks 49,438 74,009
Borrowed Funds 6,368 25,146
Other 11,234 1,905

976,361 948,880

7. Expenses by Nature
The following items are included within operating expenses:

Group
2011 2010

Shs’000 Shs’000
Employee benefits expense (Note 8) 838,478 704,636
Director fees 38,159 22,347
AMSCO management fees - 47,578
Depreciation (Note 16) 63,108 62,651
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 18) 30,813 27,544
Operating lease rentals 65,779 59,654
Auditors’ remuneration 6,771 7,140
Other operating expenses 450,703 459,777

1,493,811 1,391,327

8. Employee Benefits Expense
Group

2011 2010

Shs’000 Shs’000
Salaries and wages 714,556 582,404
Medical expenses 36,578 29,446
Training 5,567 14,363
Pension fund contribution 26,379 24,912
Others 55,398 53,511

838,478 704,636

Notes (continued)
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9. Income Tax Expense
Group

2011 2010
Shs’000 Shs’000

Current income tax                                                                                                                    106,863 47,496
Deferred income tax (Note 19) 17,590 44,898
Under provision of deferred tax in prior year (Note 19) 39,156 -
Income tax expense 163,609       92,394

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the statutory income tax rate as follows:

2011 2010

Shs’000 Shs’000
Profit before income tax 474,642 226,468
Tax calculated at domestic rates applicable to profits in the respective countries - 30% (2010 - 30%) 142,392 67,940
Tax effect of:
Income not subject to tax (93,929) (97,743)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 75,990 77,968
Derecognition of prior year deferred income tax asset - 44,229
Under provision of deferred tax in prior years 39,156 -
Income tax expense 163,609 92,394

10. Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Bank by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. 

Group
2011 2010

Shs’000 Shs’000
Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company (Shs thousands) 272,943 133,828
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands) 528 528
Basic earnings per share (Shs) 516.94 253.46

There were no potentially dilutive shares outstanding at 31 December 2011 or 2010. Diluted earnings per share are therefore the same as basic earnings per share.

Notes (continued)
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11. Cash and Balances with the Central Bank
Group Bank

2011 2010 2011 2010
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Cash in hand 831,558 1,071,603 178,954 235,700
Balances with the Central Banks 1,051,400 843,842 612,552 662,829

1,882,958 1,915,445 791,506 898,529

12. Government and other securities
a. Held to Maturity

Group Bank

2011 2010 2011 2010
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Government securities – at amortised cost
– Maturing within 90 days of the date of acquisition 810,469 1,467,278 100,000 220,800
– Maturing after 90 days of the date of acquisition 5,755,714 3,673,070 4,856,530 3,329,835

6,566,183 5,140,348 4,956,530 3,550,635

b. Available for Sale
Group Bank

2011 2010 2011 2010
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Government securities – at fair value
– Maturing after 90 days of the date of acquisition 310,595 1,502,534 310,595 1,502,534

Debt securities – at fair value (Unlisted)* 280,216 335,238 280,216 335,238
590,811 1,837,772 590,811 1,837,772

*Debt securities consist of corporate bonds.

Notes (continued)



100 FINA BANK . ANNUAL REPORT . DECEMBER2 0 1 1

13. Deposits and Balances Due from Other Banks
Group Bank

2011  

Shs’000

2010  

Shs’000

2011  

Shs’000

2010 

Shs’000
Due from local banking institutions 60,995 57,504 60,995 57,504
Due from foreign banking institutions 512,405 795,209 172,015 333,536

573,400 852,713 233,010 391,040

14. Loans and Advances to Customers
Group Bank

2011 2010 2011 2010

Shs‘000 Shs‘000 Shs‘000 Shs‘000

Overdrafts 5,081,798 4,173,817 2,969,739 3,296,022
Commercial loans 4,961,476 3,959,626 3,573,341 2,839,142
Personal loans 432,886 756,880 180,161 317,350
Hire purchase 347,400 183,494 347,400 183,594
Mortgages 778,707    298,837 - -
Other 646,876 1,452,864 551,457 586,618
Gross loans and advances 12,249,143 10,825,518 7,622,098 7,222,726
Less: Provision for impairment

 - Individually assessed 318,518 592,490 260,999 445,574
 - Collectively assessed 94,936 67,743 84,395 58,917
Net loans and advances 11,835,689 10,165,285 7,276,704 6,718,235

Movements in provisions for impairment of loans and advances are as follows:

Notes (continued)
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Notes (continued)

14. Loans and Advances to Customers (continued)
a. Group

Overdrafts Personal loans Commercial loans Total
Shs‘000 Shs‘000 Shs‘000 Shs‘000

At 1 January 2010 166,891 25,966 414,877 607,734
Provision for loan impairment 304,387 19,881 107,597 431,865
Written off as uncollectible (122,864) 10,812 (185,951) (298,003)
Amounts recovered during year (69,032) - (12,331) (81,363)
At 31 December 2010 279,382 56,659 324,192 660,233
Imparement losses 23,718 17,746 140,764 182,228
Provision for loan impairment 262,697 17,746 140,764 421,207
Amounts recovered during year (238,979) - - (238,979)
Written off as uncollectible (429,007) - - (429,007)
At 31 December 2011 (125,907) 74,405 464,956 413,454

b. Bank

Overdrafts Personal loans Commercial loans Total
Shs ‘000 Shs ‘000 Shs ‘000 Shs’000

At 1 January 2010 166,891 25,966 287,882 480,739
Provision for loan impairment 254,760 19,881 98,770 373,411
Written off as uncollectible (102,745) (11,988) (185,951) (300,684)
Amounts recovered during year (48,974) - - (48,974)
At 31 December 2010 269,932 33,859 200,701 504,491
Imparement losses (124,433) 17,746 140,617 33,930
Provision for loan impairment 52,596 17,746 140,617 210,959
Amounts recovered during year (177,029) - - (177,029)
Written off as uncollectible (193,027) - - (193,027)
At 31 December 2011 (47,529) 51,605 341,318 345,394
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14. Loans and Advances to Customers (continued)
All impaired loans have been written down to their estimated recoverable amount. The aggregate carrying amount of impaired loans at 31 December 2011 was Shs 579 million (2010: 
Shs 1,341 million).  The loans and advances to customers include finance lease receivables, which are analysed as follows:

Group Bank
2011 2010 2011 2010       

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Gross investment in finance leases:
Not later than 1 year 80,604 58,369 24,150 44,672
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 382,261 470,621 290,009 62,459

462,865 528,990 314,159 107,131
Unearned future finance income on finance leases (94,019) (130,946) (33,867) (23,470)
Net investment in finance leases 368,846 398,044 280,292 83,661

Included in the Group’s provision for impairment of loans and advances at 31 December 2011 is Shs 74 million (2010: Shs 27 million) attributable to uncollectible finance lease receivables.

15. Investments in Subsidiary and Associates 
a. Investment in Subsidiary (at cost)

The Bank’s interest in its subsidiary, which is unlisted and has the same year end as the Bank, is as follows:

Bank
Country of % interest 2011 2010

incorporation Held Shs’000 Shs’000
Fina Bank Rwanda Limited Rwanda 55.78% 164,039 164,039

b. Investment in Associate
Group Bank

2011 2010 2011 2010
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

At 1 January and 31 December - - 31,123 31,123

Notes (continued)
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15. Investments in Subsidiary and Associates (continued)
b. Investment in Associate (continued)

The Group’s interest in its associate, which is unlisted, is as follows:

Country of 
incorporation

% interest held Assets Liabilities Accumulated losses

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
2010
Fina Bank (Uganda) Limited Uganda 30% 2,179,661 1,930,351 141,042
2011
Fina Bank (Uganda) Limited Uganda 30% 2,885,048 2,455,786 46,949

16. Property and Equipment
a. Group

Buildings and 
freehold land

Lease hold 
Improvements

Computer 
equipment

Motor vehicles Fixtures, fittings 
and equipment

Work-in-progress Total

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Year ended 31 December 2010
Opening net book amount 128,320 - 13,892 18,269 247,173 133,670 541,324
Additions - 28,549 14,464 5,291 61,324 - 109,628
Reclassification - 106,464 2,096 - 17 (117,296) (8,720)
Disposals - - (307) (2,712)                 (503) - (3,522)
Depreciation charge (5,164) - (4,483) (2,659) (50,346) - (62,651)
Currency translation difference 12 - 2,377 5 47 - 2,441
Closing net book amount 123,168 135,013 28,039 18,194 257,712 16,374 578,500
At 31 December 2010
Cost or valuation 193,940 135,013 113,515 45,887 515,278 141,312 1,038,481
Accumulated depreciation (70,772) - (85,476) (27,693) (257,566) (124,938) (459,981)
Net book amount 123,168 135,013 28,039 18,194 257,712 16,374 578,500

Notes (continued)
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16. Property and Equipment (continued)
a. Group (continued)

Buildings and 
freehold land

Lease hold 
improvements

Computer 
equipment

Motor vehicles Fixtures, fittings 
and equipment

Work-in-progress Total

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Year ended 31 December 2011
Opening net book amount 123,168 135,013 28,039 18,195 257,711 16,374 578,500
Additions 14,131 - 11,397 3,182 40,912 66,454 136,076
Reclassification - 25,406 2,675 - 6,168 (35,272) (1,023)
Disposals - - - 220 (941) - (721)
Write off - - - - - (11,832) (11,832)
Depreciation charge (434) - (9,722) (2,661) (50,202) - (63,019)
Currency translation difference - - 3,607 - - - 3,607
Closing net book amount 136,865 160,419 35,996 18,936 253,648 35,724 641,588
At 31 December 2011
Cost or valuation 208,069 53,956 124,045 41,303 556,436 220,333 1,204,141
Accumulated depreciation (71,205) 106,464 (88,050) (22,366) (302,787) (184,609) (562,553)
Net book amount 136,865 160,419 35,996 18,936 253,648 35,724 641,588

Buildings and freehold land were last revalued during 2008, by Mudas Property Services Limited, independent valuers. Valuations were made on the basis of the open market value. The 
book values of the properties were adjusted to the revaluations and the resultant surplus net of deferred income tax was credited to the revaluation surplus in shareholders’ equity. If the 
buildings and freehold land were stated on the historical cost basis, the amounts would

be as follows:

2011 2010
Shs’000 Shs’000

Cost 117,393 112,721
Accumulated depreciation (35,318) (28,343)
Net book amount 82,075    84,378

Notes (continued)
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16. Property and Equipment (continued)
b. Bank 

Computer 
equipment

Motor vehicles Fixtures, fittings 
and equipment

Work-in-progress Total

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Year ended 31 December 2010
Opening net book amount 8,422 4,171 196,118 19,660 228,371
Additions 14,464 - 9,199 - 23,663
Disposals (307) (1,694) (339) - (2,340)
Depreciation charge (4,483) (730) (25,478) - (30,691)
Reclassification 2,096 - (49) (1,768) 279
Closing net book amount 20,192 1,746 179,451 17,892 219,281
At 31 December 2010
Cost 65,665 5,522 326,213 17,892 415,292
Accumulated depreciation (45,473) (3,776) (146,762) - (196,011)
Year ended 31 December 2010 20,192 1,746 179,451 17,892 219,281

Computer 
equipment

Motor vehicles Fixtures, fittings 
and equipment

Work-in-progress Total

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Year ended 31 December 2011
Opening net book amount 20,192 1,746 179,451 17,892 219,281
Additions 11,397 3,182 5,812 2,207 22,598
Disposals - - (427) - (427)
Depreciation charge (9,722) (661) (23,439) - (33,821)
Reclassification 2,675 - - (3,697) (1,022)
Write off - - - (11,832) (11,832)
Closing net book amount 24,542 4,267 161,397 4,570 194,776
At 31 December 2011
Cost 79,461 8,896 329,585 4,570 422,512
Accumulated depreciation (54,919) (4,628) (168,188) - (227,736)
Net book amount 24,542 4,268 161,397 4,570 194,776

Notes (continued)
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17. Fair Values
The directors consider that there is no material difference between the fair value and carrying value of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities where fair value details have not been 
presented, except as explained in note 4(e).

18. Intangible Assets - Software Costs
          Group Bank

2011 2010 2011 2010
Opening net book amount 49,642 53,811 11,170 3,542
Additions 8,230 13,290 7,916 9,405
Disposal (290) - (290) -
Amortisation (30,813) (27,544) (5,039) (1,777)
Reclassification from WIP 1,022 8,720 1,023 -
Currency translation difference 2,686 1,365 - -
At end of year 30,477 49,642 14,780 11,170
At 31 December
Cost 161,003 152,420 51,740 43,471
Accumulated depreciation (130,526) (102,778) (36,960) (32,301)
Net book amount 30,477 49,642 14,780 11,170

19. Deferred Income Tax
Deferred income tax is calculated using the enacted income tax rate of 30% (2011: 30%). The movement on the deferred income tax account

is as follows:

        Group

2011

Shs’000

2010

Shs’000
At 1 January 6,257 51,651
Income statement (charge) / credit (Note 9) (17,590) (44,898)
Currency translation differences 2,386 1,266
Deferred tax on movement in revaluation of available for sale securities 13,638 (1,762)
Under provision of deferred income tax in prior years (Note 9) (39,156) -
At 31 December (34,465) 6,257

Notes (continued)
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19. Deferred Income Tax (continued)
The deferred income tax asset and liability and deferred income tax charge/(credit) in the income statement are attributable to the following items:

Group
1.1.2011 Charged to income 

statement
Charged to equity 31.12.2011

Year ended 31 December 2011 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Deferred income tax assets
Property and equipment  (1,383) (2,549) - (3,932)
Other temporary differences 26,668 (15,041) - 11,627
Translation differences (12,925) - 2,386 (10,539)
Revaluation of available for sale securities (6,335) - 13,638 7,303
Under provision of deferred tax previous years 232 (39,156) - (38,924)
Net deferred income tax asset / (liability) 6,257 (56,746) 16,024 (34,465)

Group
1.1.2010 (Charged)/  credited to 

income statement
 (charged)/  credited 

to equity
31.12.2010

Year ended 31 December 2010 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Deferred income tax assets
Property and equipment 76,305 (77,688) -   (1,383)
Tax losses carried forward          1,355 - - 1,355
Other temporary differences (7,245) 32,790 - 25,545
Translation Differences (14,191) - 1,266 (12,925)
Revaluation of available for sale securities (4,573) - (1,762) (6,335)
Net deferred income tax asset 51,651 (44,898) (496) 6,257

Notes (continued)
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19. Deferred Income Tax (continued)

Bank
1.1.2011 (Charged)/ credited to 

income statement
Credited to equity 31.12.2011

Year ended 31 December 2011 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Deferred income tax liability
Property and equipment 6,921 (26,479)              - (19,558)
Deferred income tax assets
Provision for impairment 6,312 21,541              - 27,853
Revaluation of available for sale securities (6,335) -              13,638 7,303
Other deductible temporary differences (2,462) 8              - (2,454)
Net deferred income tax asset 4,436 (4,930) 13,638 13,144

Bank
1.1.2010 (Charged)/  credited to 

income statement
Charged to equity 31.12.2010

Year ended 31 December 2010 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Deferred income tax liability
Property and equipment 7,781 (860) -   6,921
Deferred income tax assets
Provision for impairment (2,927) 9,239              -        6,312
Other deductible temporary differences (1,545) (917)               -     (2,462)
Revaluation of available for sale securities (4,573) - (1,762)      (6,335)
Net deferred income tax asset (1,264) 7,462      (1,762) 4,436

Notes (continued)



FINA BANK . ANNUAL REPORT . DECEMBER 2 0 1 1 109

20. Other Assets
Group Bank

2011 2010 2011 2010
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Items in course of collection 113,874 95,065 113,874 95,065
Prepayments 80,905 60,993 54,136 38,459
Deposit for share subscription - - 39,974 19,170
Others 307,316 220,101 91,512 124,299

502,094 376,159 299,496 276,993

21. Intangible Assets
         Group

2010 2010
Shs’000 Shs’000

Goodwill on acquisitions 21,812 21,812

The goodwill arose from the Bank’s acquisition of its subsidiary in Rwanda.

Impairment Tests for Goodwill
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the CGUs, or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of 
the combination. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management 
purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level. 

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of goodwill is compared 
to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs to sell. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is not subsequently 
reversed.

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management 
covering a three-year period. Cash flows beyond the three-year period are extrapolated using estimated growth rates. The growth rates do not exceed the long-term average growth rates 
for the Fina Bank S. A. Rwanda business in which the CGUs operate.

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management 
covering a three-year period. Cash flows beyond the three-year period are extrapolated using estimated growth rates. The growth rates do not exceed the long-term average growth rates 
for the Fina Bank S. A. Rwanda business in which the CGUs operate.  

 Based on the above, the Bank does not consider the goodwill impaired. 

Notes (continued)
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22. Customer Deposits
 Group Bank

2011 2010 2011 2010
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Current and demand deposits 6,901,664 6,123,832 3,131,581 3,070,121
Savings accounts 1,785,141 1,252,590 1,128,225 1,070,506
Fixed deposit accounts 10,518,985 9,512,504 8,135,289 7,449,796

19,205,790 16,888,926 12,395,095 11,590,423
Current 16,530,803 15,028,759 9,720,107 9,730,256
Non current 2,674,987 1,860,167 2,674,988 1,860,167

19,205,790 16,888,926 12,395,095 11,590,423

23. Deposits Due to Other Banks
 Group Bank

2011 2010 2011 2010
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Due to local banking institution 189,140 350,592 189,140 350,592
Due to foreign banking Institution 241,699 940,800 100,000 -

430,839 1,291,392 289,140 350,592

24. Borrowings
The amounts outstanding are as follows:

Group Bank
2011 2010 2011 2010

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Long term debt 58,121 223,839 - 223,839
Medium term note 194,800 194,800 194,800 194,800
Accrued interest  on loan and note 990 3,517 990 3,517

253,911 422,156 195,790 422,156

The medium term note is a 7 year subordinated debt priced at 9.5% to support the banks expansion program and longer term loan book. The bond qualifies for Tier II capital. 

Notes (continued)
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25. Other Liabilities
  Group Bank

2011 2010 2011 2010

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Items in transit 5,343 6,186 5,343 6,186
Outstanding bankers cheques 27,902 30,924 27,902 30,924
Accrued expenses and other payables 290,622 260,224 95,382 88,401

323,867 297,334 128,627 125,511

26. Share Capital
 Number of shares Ordinary shares 

Shs’000
Share premium 

Shs’000

Balance at 1 Jan 2010, 1 Jan 2011 and 31 Dec 2011            
The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 800,000 with a par value of Shs 1,000 per share; 528,308 
of this has been issued and fully paid.

528,308 528,308 154,922

27. Statutory Reserve 
Group Bank

2011 2010 2011 2010
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

At 1 January 30,162 65,280 4,787 41,414
Transfer from/ (to) retained earnings 28,289 (35,118) 21,548 (36,627)
As at 31 December 58,451 30,162 26,335 4,787

The regulatory reserve represents an appropriation from retained earnings to comply with the Central Bank of Kenya’s Prudential Regulations. The balance in the reserve represents the 
excess of impairment provisions determined in accordance with the Prudential Regulations over the impairment provisions recognised in accordance with the Bank’s accounting policy. 
The reserve is non-distributable.

Notes (continued)
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28. Other Reserves
Group Bank

Fair value of 
available-for-sale 

assets

Fixed  assets 
revaluation reserves

Currency translation 
reserve

Total

Fair value of 
available-for-sale 

assets
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Balance at 1 January 2010 10,671 20,314 (11,342) 19,643 10,671
Revaluation – available for sale assets 5,871 - - 5,871 5,871
Deferred income tax on revaluation             (1,761) - - (1,761) (1,761)
Currency translation differences - 439 11,942 12,381 -
Balance at 31 December 2010 14,781 20,753 600 36,134 14,781
Revaluation – available for sale securities (39,123) - - (39,123) (39,123)
Deferred income tax on revaluation 13,638 - - 13,638 13,638
Currency translation differences - 857 17,350 18,207 -
Balance at 31 December 2011 (10,704) 21,610 17,950 28,856 (10,704)

29. Off-balance Sheet Financial Instruments, Contingent Liabilities and Commitments
 

In common with other banks, the Group conducts business involving acceptances, letters of credit, guarantees, performance bonds and indemnities.  The majority of these facilities are 
offset by corresponding obligations of third parties.  In addition, there are other off-balance sheet financial instruments including forward contracts for the purchase and sale of foreign 
currencies, the nominal amounts for which are not reflected in the balance sheet.

Group Bank
2011 2010 2011 2010

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Acceptances and letters of credit 416,525 398,937 324,296 318,652
Guarantees and performance bonds 913,685 1,452,492 696,623 812,202

1,330,210 1,851,429 1,020,919 1,130,854

Notes (continued)
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29. Off-balance Sheet Financial Instruments, Contingent Liabilities and Commitments (continued)
Nature of contingent liabilities

An acceptance is an undertaking by a bank to pay a bill of exchange drawn on a customer.  The Group expects most acceptances to be presented, and reimbursement by the customer is 
normally immediate.  

Letters of credit commit the Group to make payments to third parties, on production of documents, which are subsequently reimbursed by customers.

Guarantees are generally written by a bank to support performance by a customer to third parties.  The Group will only be required to meet these obligations in the event of the customer’s 
default.

Operating Lease Commitments Group Bank
2011 2010 2011 2010

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Not later than one year 47,576 40,375 47,576 40,375
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 110,788 117,200 110,788 117,200
Later than 5 years 18,188 36,518 18,188 36,518

176,552 194,093 176,552 194,093

Other Commitments Group Bank
2011 2010 2011 2010

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Undrawn formal stand-by facilities, credit lines and other commitments to lend 2,535,118 971,869 646,944 428,577
Foreign exchange forward contracts 178,902 69,964 178,902 69,964

2,714,020 1,041,833 825,846 498,541

Nature of Commitments

Commitments to lend are agreements to lend to a customer in future subject to certain conditions.  Such commitments are normally made for a fixed period.  The bank may withdraw from 
its contractual obligation for the undrawn portion of agreed overdraft limits by giving reasonable notice to the customer.

Foreign exchange forward contracts are agreements to buy or sell a specified quantity of foreign currency, usually on a specified future date at an agreed rate.

Notes (continued)
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30. Analysis of Cash and Cash Equivalents as Shown in the Cash Flow Statement
Group

2011 2010
Shs’000 Shs’000

Cash and Balances with Central Banks (Note 11) 1,882,958 1,915,445
Less: Cash reserve ratio (951,184) (835,726)
Government Securities maturing within 90 days of the date of acquisition (Note 12) 810,469 1,467,278
Deposits and balances due from other banks (Note 13) 573,400 852,713
Deposits due to other banks (Note 23) (430,839) (1,291,392)

1,884,804 2,108,318

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than 90 days maturity from the date of acquisition including: cash and balances with 
central banks, Treasury bills and other eligible bills, and amounts due from other banks. Cash and cash equivalents exclude the cash reserve requirement held with the Central Banks.

Banks are required to maintain a prescribed minimum cash balance with the Central Bank of Kenya that is not available to finance the bank’s day-to-day activities.  The amount is 
determined as 5.25% (2010: 4.50%) of the average outstanding customer deposits over a cash reserve cycle period of one month.

31. Related Party Transactions
Parties are considered related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over that party’s financial or operational decisions. In the normal course 
of business, current accounts are operated and placements made between the group companies at interest rates in line with market.  The relevant balances at the end of the year and 
income/ expense thereon are shown below:

Group Bank

2011 2010 2011 2010
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

a) Amounts Due from:
Group Companies 56,995 3,904 64,540 9,112
Interest income earned 14,159 - 14,159 512

Notes (continued)
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31. Related Party Transactions (continued)
Group Bank

2011 2010 2011 2010
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

b) Amounts Due to:
Group companies 58,673 - 58,673 -
Interest expense incurred 10,344 - 10,344 -

Advances to customers at 31 December 2011 include loans to directors, loans to companies controlled by directors or their families, and loans to employees as follows:

 
c) Loans to Directors Group Bank

2011 2010 2011 2010
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

At start of year 100,322    92,944 84,674    70,732
Advanced during the year 9,223 36,811 7,400 11,505
Interest charged 5,582 6,676 5,582 5,069
Repaid during the year (32,274) (16,813) (29,537) (2,632)
At end of year 82,853 119,618 68,119 84,674
Interest income earned 5,582 6,676 5,582 5,069

At 31 December 2011, advances to companies controlled by directors or their families amounted to Shs 68 million (2010: Shs 97 million).

At 31 December 2011 advances to employees amounted to Shs 65 million (2010: Shs 85 million).

All the above loans, with the exception of staff loans, were given on commercial terms and at market rates.

No provisions have been recognised in respect of loans given to related parties (2010: nil).

Notes (continued)
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31. Related Party Transactions (continued)

d) Deposits by Directors Group Bank
2011 2010 2011 2010

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
At start of year 91,637 21,309 87,279 20,537
Net movement (56,402) 66,743 (56,947) 63,330
Interest credited 2,666 3,412 2,666 3,412
At end of year 37,901 91,464 32,998 87,279
Interest expenses incurred 2,666 3,412 2,666 3,412

e) Key management Compensation Group Bank

2011 2010 2011 2010
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Salaries and other short-term employment benefits 124,843 166,368 37,105 81,618

f) Directors Remuneration Group Bank
2011 2010 2011 2010

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Fees for services as a director 38,159 22,347 19,321 12,418
Other emoluments (included in key management compensation above) 54,637 49,608 29,816 13,200

92,796 71,955 49,137 25,618

Notes (continued)
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Notes
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